COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

Between

THE CITY OF SAN ANTONIO

And

LOCAL 624 INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIRE FIGHTERS

Effective October 1, 2024 upon entry of the Arbitration Award through September 30, December 31, 20242027

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT	4
ARTICLE 1	4
RECOGNITION	
ARTICLE 2	4
DEFINITIONS	
ARTICLE 3	5
MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	
ARTICLE 4	7
RULES AND REGULATIONS, SPECIAL DIRECTIVES	
A ND ADMINISTRATIVE ORDERS	
ARTICLE 5	8
CITY PROTECTION FOR FIRE FIGHTERS	
ARTICLE 6	9
UNION ACTIVITY	
ARTICLE 7	12
PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS	
ARTICLE 8	13
SPECIAL ASSIGNMENT OF UNION PRESIDENT	
ARTICLE 9	14
MAINTENANCE OF STANDARDS	
ARTICLE 10	14
NO STRIKES, NO LOCKOUTS	
ARTICLE 11	15
NON-DISCRIMINATION	
ARTICLE 12	15
LABOR MANAGEMENT RELATIONS	
ARTICLE 13	16
WAGES	

ARTICLE 14	20
OVERTIME	
ARTICLE 15	21
HOURS	
ARTICLE 16	25
WORKING OUT OF CLASSIFICATION	
ARTICLE 17	26
VACATIONS	
ARTICLE 18	30
HOLIDAYS	
ARTICLE 19	31
BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	
ARTICLE 20	32
UNIFORM ITEMS AND PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT	
ARTICLE 21	35
PARKING	
ARTICLE 22	35
INCENTIVE PAY	
ARTICLE 23	42
SICK LEAVE	
ARTICLE 24	46
SICK LEAVE BANK	
ARTICLE 25	
HEALTH BENEFITS	
ARTICLE 26	52
RETIREE HEALTH BENEFITS	
ARTICLE 27	52
MISCELLANEOUS	
ARTICLE 28	54
EMPLOYEE FITNESS	

ARTICLE 29.	55
DRUGS AND ALCOHOL	
ARTICLE 30	63
GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	
ARTICLE 31	69
EXHAUSTION OF REMEDIES	
ARTICLE 32	70
PROMOTIONS	
ARTICLE 33	79
FIRE FIGHTER TRAINEES AND FIRE FIGHTER PROBATION	
ARTICLE 34	80
LIMITATIONS ON ACTS	
ARTICLE 35	80
AGREEMENT BINDING ON SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS ON BOTH	
PARTIES, REGARDLESS OF CHANGES IN MANAGEMENT, CONSOLIDATION, MERGER, TRANSFER, ANNEXATION, AND LOCATION	
ARTICLE 36	81
SAVINGS CLAUSE	
ARTICLE 37	82
DECLARATION OF THE FULL AND FINAL SCOPE OF AGREEMENT	
ARTICLE 38	82
DURATION OF AGREEMENT	
ATTACHMENT I	84
ORDINANCE 83927	
ATTACHMENT II	95
MASTER CONTRACT DOCUMENT	
ATTACHMENT III	95
FIRE CBA LEGISLATION	

PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT

It is the intent and purpose of this Agreement, entered into by and between the City of San Antonio, Texas, hereinafter referred to as the "City" or "Employer" and International Association of Fire Fighters Local 624 hereinafter referred to as the "Union" or "Bargaining Agent", to achieve and maintain harmonious relations between the parties, to establish benefits, compensation and other terms and conditions of employment and to provide for the equitable and orderly adjustment of grievances which may arise during the term of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 1.

RECOGNITION

The City recognizes the Union as the exclusive bargaining agent for all permanent paid employees of the City of San Antonio Fire Department, with the sole exception of the Chief of the Department. It is understood that this bargaining unit does not include civilian personnel, including Fire Fighter Trainees enrolled in the initial Fire Academy.

ARTICLE 2.

DEFINITIONS

- 1. "Employer" means the City of San Antonio.
- 2. "City" means the City of San Antonio.
- 3. "Union" means the International Association of Fire Fighters Local 624.
- 4. "Bargaining Agent" means the International Association of Fire Firefighters Local 624.
- 5. "Agreement" means the Collective Bargaining Agreement negotiated by and between the Employer and the Union.
- 6. "Employee" "Fire Fighter" "Bargaining Unit Member" means any full time, permanent, paid employee who has been hired in substantial compliance with Chapter 143 of the Local Government Code.
- 7. "Civil Service Commission" means the Fire Fighter and Police Officer Civil Service Commission of the City of San Antonio.
- 8. "Grievance" is defined as a dispute or disagreement involving the interpretation, application or alleged violation of any provisions of this Agreement, and/or of any state or federal statute, rule, or regulation dealing with the employer/employee relationship, except as otherwise provided for herein.

- 9. "Probationary Period" means the twelve (12) month period immediately following the initial date of employment in the Department (excluding time spent on leave in excess of thirty (30) consecutive days) in accordance with Chapter 143 of the Local Government Code.
- 10. "Regular Rate of Pay" means an employee's salary plus longevity, incentive, educational, and/or assignment pay.
- 11. "Chapter 143 of the Local Government Code" means Vernon's Texas Code Annotated, Local Government Code, Title 5, Matters Affecting Public Officers and Employees, Chapter 143, Municipal Civil Service.
- 12. "Base Pay" means an employee's monthly salary as shown in Article 13, Wages of this Agreement.
- 13. "Employee's Anniversary Date" shall mean the employee's date of employment (in the Academy) in the Department.
- 14. "Gender" Reference to the male gender throughout this Agreement shall have equal force and include reference to the female gender.

ARTICLE 3.

MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

Section 1.

The Union recognizes the management of the City of San Antonio and the direction of the Fire Department are vested exclusively in the City, subject to the terms of this Agreement, and nothing in this Agreement is intended to circumscribe or modify the existing rights of the City. These rights include:

- A. Direct the work of its employees to include the scheduling of overtime work.
- B. Hire, promote, demote, transfer, assign, and retain employees in positions within the City, subject to Civil Service regulations and/or terms of this Agreement.
- C. Suspend or discharge employees for just cause, subject to Civil Service regulations and/or the terms of this Agreement.
- D. Maintain the efficiency of governmental operations.
- E. Relieve employees from duties due to lack of work, subject to Civil Service regulations and/or the terms of this Agreement.
- F. Utilize the Fire Department in emergency situations to protect life and property.

- G. Use civilians in the Fire Department to perform duties which do not require a sworn certified Fire Fighter. In this regard, the City is authorized to civilianize the following positions or units:
 - 1. Fiscal Management
 - 2. Personnel
 - 3. Clerical
 - 4. Emergency Management
 - 5. Delivery
 - 6. Fire Services/Vehicle Maintenance (with exception of not less than one (1) Fire Captain or higher position)
 - 7. EMS Supply (provided the City hires a civilian that has some medical background and/or holds a paramedic certification)
 - 8. Building Maintenance
 - 9. Information Systems
 - 10. The Union recognizes the City's existing right to transfer personnel who currently are assigned to the Fire Marshall's Office, performing plan checking and review tasks for sprinkler and fire alarms, under the Uniform Building and Fire Codes. Neither the City nor the Union concedes any aspect of its position on civilianization with respect to other tasks or positions as a result of this compromise. This agreement will not be considered a precedent and is not admissible as evidence in any other controversy or proceeding involving civilianization.

Civilians performing duties which do not require a sworn certified Fire Fighter, and civilians performing duties civilianized pursuant to the position/unit list contained herein are not subject to the terms of this Agreement.

H. Determine the methods, processes, means, and personnel by which operations are to be carried out.

THE UNION UNDERSTANDS AND AGREES THAT:

Section 2.

- A. Every duty connected with operations enumerated in job descriptions is not always specifically described; nevertheless, it is intended that all such duties relating to the present mission and concept of the Fire Department, as a public safety organization of the City, shall be performed by the employees.
- B. The City shall have exclusive authority to transfer any City operation now conducted by it to another unit of government, and such transfer shall not require any prior negotiations or the consent of any group, organization, union or labor organization whatsoever. However, the City does agree that prior to any such transfer they will meet and confer with the Union and that the Union may register any objections they have with the City Manager and City Council.
- C. Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, the City, acting through the City Manager and the Fire Chief, shall retain all rights and authority to which by law it is their responsibility to enforce.

ARTICLE 4.

RULES AND REGULATIONS, SPECIAL DIRECTIVES AND ADMINISTRATIVE ORDERS

Section 1.

The Union recognizes the City's right to establish and enforce reasonable Rules and Regulations, Special Directives and Administrative Orders to conduct the mission of the Fire Department. Likewise, the City recognizes the responsibility of management to a consistent interpretation and application of such Rules and Regulations, Special Directives and Administrative Orders, which governs the conduct of employees on the job. The interpretation and application of Rules and Regulations, Special Directives and Administrative Orders shall be subject to the Grievance and Arbitration procedure.

Section 2.

- A. Should the Fire Chief decide to revise said Rules and Regulations, a joint labor-management committee shall undertake the revision of the Department's Rules and Regulations and recommend the same to the Chief. The Union shall receive the Fire Chief's final proposal of the Rules and Regulations not less than thirty (30) days prior to the Civil Service Commission meeting. If the Chief's final proposed Rules and Regulations differ from the committee's recommendation, the Union shall be entitled to inform the Commission of the differences between the two versions. The Rules and Regulations of the Department will be submitted by the Chief to the Civil Service Commission and, if approved, shall supersede all Department Rules and Regulations.
- B. The City shall be obligated to provide each station and employee with a copy of the Rules and Regulations of the Department approved by the "Civil Service Commission." As Rules

and Regulations, Special Directives, Temporary Orders, and/or Administrative Orders are promulgated and/or amended from time to time hereafter, an electronic copy will be provided to the affected employee and to the Union. When providing a copy to the employee, acknowledgment of receipt shall be the burden of the superior officer.

Section 3.

It is mutually agreed by the parties that the rules and regulations of the Department and/or amendments thereto that are hereinafter approved by the Civil Service Commission shall be made a part hereof and therefore are not subject to Maintenance of Standards as provided for elsewhere herein.

ARTICLE 5.

CITY PROTECTION FOR FIRE FIGHTERS

Section 1.

The City will defend in or out of court any Fire Fighter who incurs a charge or lawsuit as a result of the lawful performance of hers/his duties pursuant to the provisions of City guidelines as adopted and approved under City Ordinance No. 83927, passed and approved April 18, 1996, attached hereto and incorporated herein for all purposes as Attachment I, save and except Section 3 of said Ordinance which is revised to read as follows:

Defense and Settlement

- (a) The City will represent and defend any claim or suit against a Fire Fighter or former Fire Fighter that results from conduct performed in the course and scope of employment for the City occurring prior to termination of the Plan even if the suit is groundless or fraudulent except as follows:
 - 1. The City has neither the duty to defend or indemnify the Fire Fighter if there has been a finding either by the City, through a disciplinary proceeding, internal investigation, or a Court of Law prior to suit being filed that the conduct of the Fire Fighter falls under an Excluded Action.
 - 2. If in the course of defense of the lawsuit, the City identifies a potential conflict between the City and the Fire Fighter because there is a question of whether the conduct of the Fire Fighter falls under an Excluded Action, the City will select and pay for a separate defense of the Fire Fighter with a reservation of rights letter identifying the potential conflict and limits of indemnification.
 - 3. The City's determination shall be final with respect to both representation and indemnification of the Fire Fighter. However, if

defense has been denied and the member is successful in her/his defense of the claim, the City will reimburse reasonable legal expenses incurred by the member.

- (b) The City will notify the Fire Fighter of any potential for a judgment against the Fire Fighter in excess of the City's indemnification obligations. The Fire Fighter may hire, at the expense of the Fire Fighter, the Fire Fighter's own attorney in addition to the provided counsel to protect against any personal liability above the indemnification limits. The provided counsel will, however, remain lead attorney. Any attorney's fees thus accrued are the responsibility of the Fire Fighter and will not be reimbursed.
- (c) The City may investigate, negotiate, or settle any claim as the City determines necessary or appropriate.
- (d) Said representation and defense of the Fire Fighter, as provided in Sections 1 through 3 above, shall be done in accordance with Ordinance No. 83927, passed and approved April 18, 1996, attached hereto and incorporated herein for all purposes as Attachment I.

Section 2.

The City will seek to recover for damaged or lost property of any employee in any suit or claim that is asserted by the City as to its public property, pursuant to procedure established by the Chief and the City Attorney. The purpose of this section is to enhance and broaden its range of coverage. The ordinance authorizing execution of this contract will amend the existing HAZ-MAT ordinance to authorize such action by the City Attorney.

ARTICLE 6.

UNION ACTIVITY

Section 1. Union Activity on Department Property.

Union members or officers shall not conduct Union business on City time except as specified by this Agreement or as further authorized by the City Manager or the Fire Chief. The Union may hold meetings pertinent to Union business on Fire Department property, provided that permission for such meeting is obtained in advance from the Fire Chief or her/his designated representative.

Union officers and committee members may conduct Union business on City time at their work location as long as such business does not interfere with their Fire Department duties.

Notwithstanding the provisions hereof, political activity shall not be conducted by the Union or any of its members on City time and/or Fire Department property pursuant to this Section.

The determination by the Fire Chief that Union meetings on Fire Department property or the work of an individual Union member on City time as provided herein shall be binding unless or until it has been determined through the Grievance Procedure found in Article 30, of this Agreement that the Chief has unreasonably exercised her/his authority granted pursuant to this Article. The Union will be allowed a scheduled four (4) hour orientation class with Fire Cadets within the first two (2) weeks of entering the Fire Academy. The Union shall submit an outline of their presentation to the Chief in advance.

Section 2. Negotiating Committee.

A maximum of three (3) members of the Union Negotiating Committee shall be granted time off with pay (excluding additional pay) for the purpose of attending negotiating meetings between the City and the Union when such meetings occur during the regularly scheduled working time of the employees. Time off shall only be for reasonable transportation time to and from the meeting site, direct route, and the actual time required in the meeting itself. An employee on such administrative leave shall be compensated as though the employee was at work on her/his regularly-scheduled assignment so that the employee will suffer no reduction in her/his normal, weekly pay for having participated in negotiations (and/or meetings directly relating thereto and actual travel time--direct route--to and from said meetings) at her/his regular rate of pay and applicable scheduled FLSA overtime.

Section 3. City Facilities.

Nothing in this Article is intended to prohibit or prevent the Union from utilizing City facilities, available to private organizations on a rental basis, under the same conditions that they are made available to other such private organizations.

Section 4. Union Leave Pool.

- A. On October 1 of each year Effective the first full pay period after October 1 of each year in accordance with Article 17, Section 2, three (3)six (6) additional hours vacation leave per filled Fire Fighter position per year, as recorded on the active payroll of the last pay period paid in September of the previous fiscal year will be deducted to establish and maintain a pool of leave hours. These hours will be available effective October 1 of every year. This leave will establish a pool of paid time to be granted to individuals selected by the Union to conduct Union business hereinafter referred to as "Union Leave." Leave usage will be governed by the following guidelines:
 - 1. No carry-over of leave pool hours.
 - 2. Limit to the number of persons off at any given time: Fire-3, EMS-2, and one (1) each from Services, Arson, Fire Prevention, Training, and Communications.
 - 3. Limit to the number of persons off per Firefighting company-1.
 - 4. Not more than six (6) persons off at the same time.

- 5. Leave increment must be equal to or greater than eight (8) hours for Firefighting or EMS divisions and four (4) hours for all forty (40) hour divisions.
- 6. Where leave increments are above the minimum hours, said increments must be not less than two (2) hours.
- 7. Request for leave must be made by the Union President or her/his designee.
- 8. Request for leave must be directed to the Fire Chief or her/his designee, via e-mail or fax.
- 9. Request for leave must be received at the Fire Chief's Office prior to 12:00p.m., (noon), of the shift prior to the shift of leave usage.
- 10. Request for leave must be in writing, signed by the Union President or her/his designee, include the names and assignments of employees selected to be on Union Leave and indicate the duration of leave requested for each employee.
- 11. Employees participating in initial specialized training, (Paramedic or Arson), shall not be authorized to utilize Union Leave while participating in said training.
- 12. The Fire Chief may deny a request for Union Leave where said request is for an employee assigned to the following positions: Special Projects, Professional Standards, Personnel, Training, Services, Fire Prevention, Arson, Special Teams Coordinator, Safety Officer, and personnel performing special projects receiving higher classification. However, members of the Union Executive Board in any such position shall be subject to Section 4.A.13. of this Article.
- 13. The Fire Chief may deny a request for Union Leave where approval of said request would be operationally detrimental to the Department. In the event that the Chief denies such a request, the Union may request the reason for the denial. If this occurs the Fire Chief shall explain the reason for said denial in writing.
- 14. The Fire Chief retains the right to recall employees to duty during an emergency or special event involving an overriding need for protection of the citizens of San Antonio.
- B. Nothing in this Article has any effect on rights and prerogatives of the Union, employees, or the Fire Chief with respect to employees attending meetings, conventions, conferences, seminars, or other Union functions on the employee's own time or Union lay-off time.

Section 5. Bulletin Boards.

The City shall allow the Union to use the Fire Department bulletin board at each location. These boards shall be used only for the following notices:

- a. Recreation and Social Affairs.
- b. Union Meetings.
- c. Union Elections.
- d. Reports of Union Committees.

- e. International Association of Fire Fighters and State Association Notices.
- f. Legislative enactments and judicial decisions affecting employees.
- g. Minutes of Union meetings which do not violate the provisions of the following paragraph.
- h. Shall not contain any personal caricatures.
- i. Union endorsements of political candidates shall be in accordance with the provisions of the following paragraph:

Notices of announcements, including reports of Union committees shall not contain anything reflecting upon the City, any of its employees, or any labor organizations among its employees. The notice of Union endorsement of political candidates shall consist of a simple, straight-forward listing of the candidates, without editorializing their merits and void of any remarks about their opponents.

The Union President or her/his designated representative shall be responsible for the contents of the above notices; any violation of the provisions of this Article shall entitle the City to revoke this concession and such revocation is subject to the grievance procedure.

Section 6. Radio, MDT, and Electronic Mail Announcements.

The Union will be allowed use of these medias for the purposes of pertinent information, i.e., Union Meetings, Special Announcement, etc. All announcements shall first be approved by the Chief or her/his designee, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld if the announcement complies with the provisions of Section 5 above.

Section 7.

The City agrees to provide the Union President with the written copy of announcements intended for dissemination generally to Department employees. Copies of such announcements shall be placed in a mail slot to be maintained for the Union President at the Department's Administrative Offices.

ARTICLE 7.

PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS

Section 1. Union Dues.

The City agrees that on each pay day it shall deduct Union dues from each member of the Union in the amount certified to be current by the Financial Secretary of the Union and the Director of Finance. Dues shall be set in accordance with the Constitution and By-laws of the Union and

shall be authorized by each member pursuant to state law. The President and Financial Secretary shall notify the Director of Finance in writing of any certified dues increase election. Within thirty (30) days following notification of approval, the City shall change dues deductions to the notified amount.

Section 2. Special Assessments.

With the sole exception of the Union's death benefit, the City shall deduct special assessments which are duly authorized pursuant to the Constitution and By-laws of the Union and are voluntary and individually authorized by the member. A single authorization shall be utilized for all deductions of the death benefit.

Section 3. Indemnification.

The City will be obligated to remit to the Union only those sums deducted as dues and assessments pursuant to this Section. The Union agrees to promptly refund to the City any amount paid to it in error upon presentation of satisfactory proof by the City. The Union agrees to indemnify and hold the City harmless from any cause of action instituted by any individual as a result of the City's deduction of dues and special assessments.

Section 4. Application.

This Article shall apply only to payroll deductions authorized for the payment of dues and fees to Local Union No. 624, to the exclusion of any other organization or of deductions for any other purpose provided, however, that no present deduction will be changed or affected.

Section 5. Administrative Fees.

The City shall have the right to charge an administrative fee to recover the cost associated with the administration of any new special assessment(s) or deduction(s) implemented after the effective date of this Agreement requested by the Union. This shall not apply to existing Union dues and PAC contributions. It is also understood and agreed that an increase or decrease in Union dues and/or PAC contributions are not a change under this paragraph. The Director of Finance shall have the right to develop such fee and amend it annually based on any change in the cost of administration. The City shall notify the Union of any change in the administrative charge at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to the implementation of the change. Such administrative charge shall be withheld from the amount collected and remitted to the Union. The fee shall include the actual cost to set up each deduction plus fifteen (15%) percent, not to exceed three hundred dollars (\$300.00).

ARTICLE 8.

SPECIAL ASSIGNMENT OF UNION PRESIDENT

The City agrees that the President of the Union will be placed on special assignment during the term of her/his presidency. The special assignment will give the Union President the latitude to deal with the duties of her/his presidency while retaining the privileges of her/his employment, while the Fire Chief retains the right to recall her/him to duty during an emergency or special event involving an overriding need for the protection of the citizens of San Antonio.

The Fire Chief reserves her/his existing authority to revoke special assignment for the Union President during emergencies or when the welfare of the citizens of San Antonio is placed in jeopardy. The Union President, as part of her/his Union duties, reserves the right, as in the past, to mitigate grievances at all informal and formal levels in order to reduce the number of complaints and, in all cases, reserves the right to speak, visit with the men and women who are members of the Union, as well as to tour existing fire facilities and to review existing equipment toward the goal of improving the quality of worklife for the Fire Fighters of the City of San Antonio whom s/he represents. In addition, s/he will participate as the duly-elected representative of men and women of the Union in any discussion that may affect the quality of worklife, health, and well-being of any Union member.

It is understood that the President of the Union shall suffer no loss of longevity, seniority, pension, days off, or any other benefits as a result of and during the term of such special assignment. Provided, however, the President shall be entitled to educational and/or certification pay, if applicable, but shall not be entitled to premium assignment or incentive pay (i.e., overtime) unless directed by the Chief to perform Fire Fighter duties that call for payment of said premium pay. When the term of the President expires, the President shall be eligible to return to her/his previously-assigned shift and duty assignment, provided any certificate that is required has been maintained.

ARTICLE 9.

MAINTENANCE OF STANDARDS

All standards, privileges and working conditions enjoyed by the City of San Antonio Fire Fighters at the effective date of this Agreement, which are not included in this Agreement, shall remain unchanged for the duration of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 10.

NO STRIKES, NO LOCKOUTS

The Union shall not cause, counsel, or permit its members to strike, slow down, disrupt, impede or otherwise impair the normal functions of the Department, nor to refuse to cross any picket line by whomever established, where such refusal would interfere with or impede the performance of the employee's duties as an employee of the City. The City shall not lock out any employee.

ARTICLE 11.

NON-DISCRIMINATION

Section 1.

Both the City and the Union agree that neither shall willfully discriminate against any employee, member, or prospective member, because of race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, or disability if otherwise qualified to fulfill the duties of the position.

Section 2.

Alleged violations of Section 1, as well as claims of discrimination made under Federal and/or State law, shall not be subject to the grievance/arbitration procedures of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 12.

LABOR MANAGEMENT RELATIONS

Section 1.

The Chief of the Department and the President of the Union shall meet monthly (if requested by either) for the purpose of conferring over issues relating to labor relations, health and safety, and other such matters. Neither shall be required to meet unless a minimum of seven (7) calendar days advance notification be made, in writing, stating the purpose of the meeting and the topics to be discussed.

Section 2.

In the interest of Labor/Management relations, the Chief of the Department and the President of the Union shall convene a Labor/Management Committee Meeting and/or a Correlating Committee meeting at either party's request. The Fire Chief shall grant administrative leave for up to three (3) committee members. The Union President shall designate personnel for administrative leave that will not create higher classification pay. This shall apply to no more than one (1) meeting per month. Nothing herein shall preclude the Fire Chief and Union President from having additional labor/management meetings. However, these additional meetings shall not be applicable to the administrative leave allowed herein. At no time shall more than one (1) committee member be qualified for this administrative leave from each of the following Divisions/Sections: Fire Suppression, EMS, Communications, Fire Prevention, Training, Services and Arson. Employees that are on duty and requested by the President to attend such meetings shall be allowed to continue to utilize Union lay-off time. Committee members who are not on duty shall attend on their own time.

Section 3.

The parties hereto shall be authorized to jointly appoint other necessary committees with specific goals and objectives of mutual benefit and concern, including, but not limited to, a vehicle accident committee, occupational safety and health committee, and such other committees as the parties shall choose to establish.

Section 4.

Any committees designated shall meet at times and places authorized by the Chief so as to cause the least possible interference with existing duties. Every reasonable effort will be made to schedule meetings at times agreeable to all members of the Committee. The work of said committees shall be conducted on City time without loss of pay by committee members; except that meetings which are scheduled at times when Union members who work shifts are not on duty, such employees shall attend on their own time.

Section 5.

In addition to the establishment of committees, the Chief and the President shall be at liberty to discuss pending grievances and/or issues of mutual interest and/or concern, even where the same involves an individual claim or claims of one or more employees of the Department.

Section 6.

This Article shall not impair the Chief's rights under Article 3. Management Rights.

ARTICLE 13.

WAGES

Section 1. Wages.

The parties have agreed to the following pay increases during the term of this agreement. These increases are reflected in the wage charts below.

Effective with this agreement and to be paid within 30 days of the Arbitration award, a 5% lump sum payment will be paid to all then employed members of the bargaining unit. The lump sum payment will be calculated based on each bargaining unit employee's total compensation paid during the twelve-month period ending December 31, 2019. Total compensation includes base pay, longevity, incentive pay, and overtime pay. It does not include compensation earned during off duty employment.

Effective January 1, 2021, an across the board 2% wage increase will occur and 1% lump sum will be paid to all then employed members of the bargaining unit in the month of January 2021 in the ordinary course of payroll. The lump sum payment will be calculated based on each bargaining unit employee's total compensation paid during the twelve-month period ending

December 31, 2020. Total compensation includes base pay, longevity, incentive pay, and overtime pay. It does not include compensation earned during off duty employment.

Effective January 1, 2022, an across-the-board 3% wage increase will occur.

Effective January 1, 2023, an across-the-board 2.5% wage increase will occur and 0.5% lump sum will be paid to all then employed members of the bargaining unit in the month of January 2023 in the ordinary course of payroll. The lump sum payment will be calculated based on each bargaining unit employee's total compensation paid during the twelve-month period ending December 31, 2022. Total compensation includes base pay, longevity, incentive pay, and overtime pay. It does not include compensation earned during off duty employment.

Effective January 1, 2024, an across-the board 2.5% wage increase will occur and 0.5% lump sum will be paid to all then employed members of the bargaining unit in the month of January 2024 in the ordinary course of payroll. The lump sum payment will be calculated based on each bargaining unit employee's total compensation paid during the twelve-month period ending December 31, 2023. Total compensation includes base pay, longevity, incentive pay, and overtime pay. It does not include compensation earned during off duty employment.

Effective—October 1, 2024, an across-the-board 7% wage increase will occur. In addition, effective upon execution of this agreement, each step shall receive an increase to base pay of \$2,400 from certain pays historically captured in Articles 20 and 22.

Effective October 1, 2025, an across-the-board 8% wage increase will occur.

Effective October 1, 2026, an across-the-board 5% wage increase will occur.

Section 2. Monthly Base Salaries.

Fire Fighter Rank Step Schedule.

- Step A Fire Fighters, from Probation through eighteen (18) months after date of employment.
- Step B Fire Fighters, from the 19th month after date of employment through completion of 60th month after date of employment.
- Step C Fire Fighters, from the 61st month after date of employment until eligible for Fire Fighter Step D.
- Step D Fire Fighters with at least ten (10) years seniority in rank and an Associate's Degree or higher or Fire Fighters with fifteen (15) years seniority in rank shall be eligible for Fire Fighter Step D.

Step E - Fire Fighters with at least fifteen (15) years seniority in rank and an Associate's Degree or higher or Fire Fighters with twenty (20) years seniority in rank shall be eligible for Fire Fighter Step E.

<u>Firefighter</u>	Step A	Step B	Step C	Step D	Step E
Effective October 1, 2024		_	_	_	_
Monthly Amount	<u>\$5,348</u>	<u>\$5,913</u>	\$6,021	<u>\$6,136</u>	<u>\$6,256</u>
Annual Amount	<u>\$64,174</u>	<u>\$70,954</u>	<u>\$72,251</u>	<u>\$73,637</u>	<u>\$75,075</u>
Effective October 1, 2025	_	_	_	_	_
Monthly Amount	<u>\$5,776</u>	<u>\$6,386</u>	\$6,503	<u>\$6,627</u>	<u>\$6,757</u>
Annual Amount	<u>\$69,308</u>	<u>\$76,630</u>	<u>\$78,031</u>	<u>\$79,528</u>	<u>\$81,082</u>
Effective October 1, 2026	_	_	_	_	_
Monthly Amount	<u>\$6,064</u>	<u>\$6,705</u>	<u>\$6,828</u>	<u>\$6,959</u>	<u>\$7,095</u>
Annual Amount	<u>\$72,774</u>	<u>\$80,462</u>	<u>\$81,932</u>	<u>\$83,505</u>	<u>\$85,136</u>

Effective 1/1/21	\$4,434	\$4, 922	\$ 5,015	\$ 5,115	\$ 5,218
Effective 1/1/22	\$4,567	\$5,069	\$5,166	\$5,269	\$5,375
Effective 1/1/23	\$4,681	\$5,196	\$5,295	\$5,400	\$5,509
Effective 1/1/24	\$4,798	\$5,326	\$5,427	\$5,535	\$5,647

Fire Engineer Rank Step Schedule

- Step A Fire Engineers with less than five (5) years seniority in rank.
- Step B Fire Engineers with five (5) or more years of seniority in rank.
- Step C Fire Engineers with at least five (5) years seniority in rank and an Associate's Degree or higher or Fire Engineers with ten (10) years seniority in rank shall be eligible for the Fire Engineer Step C.
- Step D Fire Engineers with at least ten (10) years seniority in rank and an Associate's Degree or higher or Fire Engineers with fifteen (15) years seniority in rank shall be eligible for the Fire Engineer Step D.

Fire Engineer	Step A	Step B	Step C	Step D
Effective October 1, 2024		_	_	1

Monthly Amount	<u>\$6,462</u>	<u>\$6,579</u>	\$6,709	<u>\$6,837</u>
Annual Amount	\$77,541	\$78,953	\$80,507	\$82,048
Effective October 1,				
<u>2025</u>	_	_	_	_
Monthly Amount	\$6,979	<u>\$7,106</u>	<u>\$7,246</u>	<u>\$7,384</u>
Annual Amount	\$83,744	<u>\$85,269</u>	<u>\$86,947</u>	<u>\$88,611</u>
Effective October 1,				
<u>2026</u>	_	_	_	_
Monthly Amount	<u>\$7,328</u>	<u>\$7,461</u>	<u>\$7,608</u>	<u>\$7,753</u>
Annual Amount	\$87,931	\$89,533	\$91,295	\$93,042

Step	Α		Step B	Step
Effective 1/1/21	\$5,396	\$5,498	\$5,609	\$5,720
Effective 1/1/22	\$5,558	\$5,663	\$5,777	\$5,892
Effective 1/1/23	\$5,697	\$5,80 4	\$5,922	\$6,039
Effective 1/1/24	\$ 5,839	\$5,949	\$6,070	\$6,190

Lieutenant Rank Step Schedule

Step A - All Lieutenants not eligible for Lieutenant Step B.

Step B - Lieutenants with at least five (5) years seniority in rank and an Associate's Degree or higher or Lieutenants with ten (10) years seniority in rank shall be eligible for Lieutenant Step B.

Lieutenant	Step A	Step B
Effective October 1, 2024		1
Monthly Amount	<u>\$7,356</u>	<u>\$7,499</u>
Annual Amount	<u>\$88,275</u>	<u>\$89,983</u>
Effective October 1, 2025	_	<u>-</u>
Monthly Amount	<u>\$7,945</u>	<u>\$8,098</u>
Annual Amount	<u>\$95,337</u>	<u>\$97,181</u>
Effective October 1, 2026	_	_
Monthly Amount	\$8,342	<u>\$8,503</u>
Annual Amount	\$100,104	\$102,040

	Step A	Step B
Effective 1/1/21	\$6,168	\$ 6,291
Effective 1/1/22	\$ 6,353	\$6,480
Effective 1/1/23	\$6,512	\$ 6,642
Effective 1/1/24	\$6,675	\$6,808

Captain Rank Step Schedule

Step A - All Captains not eligible for Captain Step B.

Step B - Captains with at least five (5) years seniority in rank and an Associate's Degree or higher or Captains with ten (10) years seniority in rank shall be eligible for Captain Step B.

Captain	Step A	Step B
Effective October 1, 2024		_
Monthly Amount	\$8,376	<u>\$8,541</u>
Annual Amount	\$100,512	\$102,489
Effective October 1, 2025	_	_
Monthly Amount	\$9,046	\$9,224
Annual Amount	\$108,552	\$110,688
Effective October 1, 2026	_	_
Monthly Amount	\$9,498	\$9,685
Annual Amount	\$113,980	\$116,222

	Step A	Step B
Effective 1/1/21	\$7,049	\$7,191
Effective 1/1/22	\$7,261	\$7,407
Effective 1/1/23	\$7,442	\$ 7,592
Effective 1/1/24	\$7,628	\$7,782

District Chief Rank Step Schedule

Step A - All District Chiefs not eligible for District Chief Step B.

Step B - District Chiefs with at least five (5) years seniority in rank and a Bachelor's Degree or higher or District Chiefs with ten (10) years seniority in rank shall be eligible for District Chief Step B.

District Chief	Step A	Step B
Effective October 1, 2024		-
Monthly Amount	\$9,557	\$9,743
Annual Amount	<u>\$114,687</u>	<u>\$116,921</u>
Effective October 1, 2025	_	1
Monthly Amount	\$10,322	\$10,523
Annual Amount	<u>\$123,862</u>	<u>\$126,275</u>
Effective October 1, 2026	_	_
Monthly Amount	<u>\$10,838</u>	<u>\$11,049</u>
Annual Amount	\$130,055	\$132,588

	Step A	Step B
Effective 1/1/21	\$ 8,069	\$ 8,230
Effective 1/1/22	\$8,311	\$ 8,477
Effective 1/1/23	\$ 8,519	\$8,689
Effective 1/1/24	\$ 8,732	\$ 8,906

Section 3. Longevity.

In addition to wages as set forth in the pay schedule above, each Fire Fighter's base pay shall be increased by three percent (3%) for each five (5) years of his/her longevity, to a maximum of thirty (30) years, i.e., a thirty (30) year veteran would receive an additional payment not to exceed eighteen percent (18%). On each Fire Fighter's anniversary date, which is not a multiple of five (5), s/he shall receive an eight dollar (\$8.00) increase in his/her longevity pay per month, and the eight dollar (\$8.00) interim monthly adjustments will not increase any fifth year levels. The eight dollar (\$8.00) payment as noted herein shall be in lieu of the four dollar (\$4.00) per month per year of service payment called for in Chapter 141.032 Local Government Code and is specifically intended to supersede said section.

ARTICLE 14. OVERTIME

Section 1.

All employees shall be paid at the rate of time and one half (1-1/2) that of their regular rate of pay for all hours worked over their regular scheduled working hours.

Section 2.

All employees who are called back to work when they are off duty shall be paid a minimum of two (2) hours at time and one-half (1-1/2) and shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half (11/2) for all hours worked over two (2) hours.

Section 3.

All Fire Suppression employees who are assigned a fifty-six (56) hour work week schedule shall receive time and one-half (1-1/2) their regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of one hundred fifty nine (159) hours per twenty-one (21) day work cycle. Accordingly, for each additional hour, or portion thereof, actually worked by said employee in excess of one hundred fifty nine (159) hours during the twenty-one (21) day cycle, that employee shall receive overtime pay based on the following: 1.5 times the number of hours actually worked in excess of 159 hours times the quotient of 159, divided into the employee's three week gross regular salary. Under a twenty-one (21) day cycle, each employee shall lose no more than twenty-seven (27) hours of overtime pay per year as a result of scheduled vacation leave being counted as productive time for F.L.S.A. purposes. For the purpose of computing eligibility for F.L.S.A. overtime and application of the twenty-seven (27) hour limit in this paragraph, all other types of leave will take priority over vacation leave in application of this provision (i.e. when vacation and any other form of leave is used in the same 21 day cycle, the loss of F.L.S.A. overtime shall not apply to the twenty-seven (27) hour maximum. It is intended that a Fire Fighter will lose only one cycle of F.L.S.A. overtime per scheduled vacation, even if a vacation period splits two cycles. F.L.S.A. overtime will be charged against the first three (3) vacation periods taken in that calendar year. Employees shall, however, be allowed to exempt use of one shift of sick leave and/or military leave each calendar year from the provisions of this paragraph.

Section 4.

When two (2) or more types of overtime or premium compensation are applicable to the same hours of work, only the higher rate(s) of compensation shall be paid. In no event shall overtime or premium compensation be pyramided.

ARTICLE 15.

HOURS

Section 1. General.

The following shall be the regular established work schedule for the employees covered by this Agreement and shall remain in effect, except that the Chief may make no more than one change

per section per contract, and then only after sixty (60) days notification in writing to the Union unless exemption to notification is provided herein. Any additional changes must be made by mutual consent between the City and the Union. During a sixty (60) day notification period, the Union shall be given the opportunity to meet and confer with the Chief and register any objection it may have to the change of hours.

Section 2. Emergency Medical Technicians (Regular) and Communications.

Emergency Medical Technicians and Emergency Medical Service Communications Division personnel shall work the following regular hours.

- A. An average forty two (42) hour work week.
- B. The work period is four (4) consecutive weeks or twenty-eight (28) days beginning at 7:00 a.m. Sunday and ending twenty-eight (28) days later. The work shift shall begin at 7:00 a.m. and end at 7:00 a.m. the following day, consisting of twenty-four (24) consecutive hours.

42 Hour Wo	ork We	ek - Sc	hedule :	for One	Employee
------------	--------	---------	----------	---------	----------

S	M	Т	W	TH	F	S	
17	7	OFF	OFF	17	7	OFF	
OFF	17	7	OFF	OFF	17	7	
OFF	OFF	17	7	OFF	OFF	17	
7	OFF	OFF	17	7	OFF	OFF	

One (1) work shift shall equal two (2) twelve (12) hour working days for administrative purposes (sick leave, annual leave, disciplinary action, military leave, etc.)

Personnel may not work more than twenty-four (24) continuous hours, except if personnel are on a response at shift change. Personnel must have twenty-four (24) hours off prior to working. This applies to overtime and trading time.

Vacation scheduling must be equalized throughout the year.

- C. The Chief shall have the right to schedule a separate group of employees on a power shift schedule provided that the schedule does not exceed an average forty-two (42) hour work week. No individual power shift work shift shall exceed twelve (12) hours. No more than four (4) power shift work shifts will be scheduled in any seven (7) calendar day week period. The Chief's right to implement such a shift shall be limited to or by the following conditions:
 - 1. The Fire Chief and the Union shall negotiate on the specific shift schedule to be implemented and the impact of such a schedule. In the event the Fire Chief and the

Union do not reach a full agreement on the schedule, the unresolved issues shall be submitted to a binding arbitration procedure as provided in the statutory provision of Sections 174.154, 174.155, and 174.157 through 174.164 (Texas Local Government Code) as such sections exist at the date of this contract. No other provisions in said Chapter shall be applicable to the partial re-opener provided for in this Article;

- 2. Additional EMS units must be placed into service by the City beyond twenty-three (23) units prior to establishing a permanent power shift schedule pursuant to this section; and
- 3. All slots must represent new positions, and shall be filled from volunteers, or from promotions.

Each paramedic actually working a power shift schedule pursuant to this section and on a straight time basis for one-half (1/2) or more of any calendar month shall be entitled to shift differential pay in the amount of three hundred and fifty dollars (\$350) for the full month. No partial payment shall be made for working less than one-half (1/2) of the calendar month. Time taken by an employee on Sick Leave or LOD Leave while assigned to a power shift work schedule shall not be counted as time working for the purpose of eligibility to receive shift differential pay.

Nothing in this section shall preclude the Fire Chief from establishing or continuing any power shift or peak period staffing schedule on an overtime basis.

Section 3. Specified Employees in the Fire Department Repair Shops.

For employees assigned to the Fire Department Repair Shops, the work day shall begin at 7:45 a.m. and end at 4:30 p.m. each work day, Monday through Friday, with forty-five (45) minutes for lunch, and two (2) fifteen (15) minute breaks, one (1) in the morning and one (1) in the afternoon.

Section 4. Fire Fighting.

Employees assigned to the Fire Fighting Division or Aviation Division, shall work the following regular hours:

An average fifty-six (56) hour work week. The work period is three (3) consecutive weeks or twenty-one (21) days beginning at 9:00 a.m. Sunday and ending twenty-one (21) days later. The work shift shall begin at 9:00 a.m. and end at 9:00 a.m. the following day, consisting of twenty-four (24) consecutive hours. One (1) work shift shall equal two (2) working days.

56 Hour Work Week - Schedule for One Employee

S M T	W	TH	F	S	
-------	---	----	---	---	--

15	9	OFF	15	9	OFF	15
9	OFF	15	9	OFF	15	9
OFF	15	9	OFF	15	9	OFF

Section 5. Arson Employees Investigations.

A. <u>Arson Investigators</u>. Employees assigned to the Arson Division shall work the following regular hours, with the exception of the <u>Captain Supervisors</u> assigned to Arson who shall work a forty (40) hour, <u>fourfive</u> (45) day work week as approved by the division head:

A.—1. A forty (40)-hour, ten (10)-hour-per-day, four (4) day work week;

B. Said work week shall consist of two (2) shifts consisting of the day shift and evening shift. The shifts are broken down as follows:

The Day shift shall be made of a Monday — Thursday rotation, and a Tuesday — Friday rotation. The total number of Day shift rotations shall equal the number of two (2) person teams, minus the two (2) weeks of Evening shift referenced below.

The first rotation of the day shift shall be worked from 7:00 a.m. 5:00p.m., Tuesday Friday for the number of weeks determined by the personnel assigned to the Arson Bureau, and work 7:00 a.m. 5:00 p.m. Monday Thursday for the remaining number of weeks comprising the Day shift.

Evening shift 4 p.m. - 2 a.m. for 2 weeks total / 1 week Wed.-Sat. / 1 week Sun. Wed.

The two (2) Lieutenants assigned to Arson will work a forty (40) hour, ten (10) hour per day, four (4) day work week, the rotation to be determined by the Division Head.

- 2. Said work week shall consist of (4) workdays starting at 7:00 a.m. and ending at 5: p.m.
- 3. The work week shall be on a rotation basis as listed below; the number of weeks in the rotation shall expand or contract based upon the number of investigators assigned to the Arson Division.

Week	Saturday	Sunday	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday
1							
2							
3							
4							
5							
6							

7				
8				
9				
10				

- C. The number of weeks between team rotations shall equal the number of two (2) person investigator teams.
 - D.4. Employees assigned to Arson shall be allowed a thirty (30) minute lunch break. While on this lunch break, the employee shall be subject to call, and the missing of this lunch break because of the press of business shall not be grounds for overtime payment nor shall it be the basis for a grievance.
 - C. E.5. In the event an arson investigator is required, when none is scheduled or when the scheduled personnel are not available to respond, s/he shall be called back to work on a rotating basis and compensated as specified by this Agreement.
 - D.F.6. Arson investigators who are mandated to serve on scheduled stand-by shall be compensated at the rate of two (2) hours of overtime pay or actual time worked, whichever is greater. This provision applies whether or not the employee is actually called back to work.
 - 7. Additional personnel assigned to the Arson Division shall be scheduled at the discretion of the Fire Chief, or her/his designated representative.
- B. Fire Investigators. Employees assigned to the Fire Investigation Division shall work the following regular hours:
 - 1. Employees assigned to the Fire Investigation Division shall work the Fire Fighting Division schedule as set forth in Article 15, Section 4.
 - 2. Supervisors assigned to Fire Investigation Division will work either the Fire Fighting Division schedule or a forty (40) hour, ten (10) hour per day, four (4) day work week, to be determined by the Division Head.
 - 3. Additional personnel assigned to the Fire Investigation Division shall be scheduled at the discretion of the Fire Chief, or her/his designated representative.

Section 6. Employees Assigned to Specialized Training.

A. Employees assigned or detailed to Emergency Medical Training shall have their hours scheduled at the discretion of the Emergency Medical Service Director as long as the scheduled hours do not exceed a forty (40) hour work week over the duration of the training period. The Emergency Medical Director may implement any schedule, provided that it is in accordance with and permitted by the provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act, and any regulations thereunder.

- B. Employees assigned or detailed to specialized training, i.e., HazMat, National Fire Academy, E.M.T., etc., shall not lose any of their standard rate of pay, i.e., F.L.S.A. overtime, as per their regular assignment. Total hours worked may not exceed current F.L.S.A. cycle average and such employee's schedule will be adjusted to compensate for reasonable travel (most direct route and most expedient mode) and class time required while on specialized training.
- C. Employees assigned or detailed to Paramedic Training are considered part of the E.M.S. Division and are covered by F.L.S.A. guidelines relative to a forty (40) hour work week.

Section 7. Airport Coordinator, and Other Uniformed Employees.

- A. Airport Coordinator and all other uniformed employees not specifically mentioned before shall work the following hours: A forty (40) hour work week, Monday through Friday, beginning at 7:45 a.m. and ending at 4:30 p.m. each day, with forty-five (45) minutes for lunch and two (2) fifteen (15) minute breaks, one (1) in the morning and one (1) in the afternoon.
- B. With regards to any of the employee groups mentioned in A. above, the Fire Chief may, ather/his discretion, authorize a four (4) day work week. In such an event, said employees shall be scheduled to work a forty (40) hour, ten (10) hours per day, four (4) day work week from 7:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., which four (4)—day period shall be scheduled between Monday and Friday.

Section 8. Fire Prevention.

- A. The Fire Marshall and Division Chiefs shall have the option to work a forty (40) hour work week, Monday through Friday, beginning at 7:45 a.m. and ending at 4:30 p.m. each day, with forty-five (45) minutes for lunch and two (2) fifteen (15) minute breaks, one (1) in the morning and one (1) in the afternoon or a forty (40) hour, ten (10) hour per day, four (4) day work week beginning at 7:00 a.m. and ending at 5:00 p.m. Monday through Friday.
- B. The Fire Chief shall implement a four (4) day work week in Fire Prevention for operational employees (Inspectors and Community Safety & Education assigned personnel) pursuant to subsection C below.
- C. In such event, said employees referenced in subsection B, Operation Employees (Inspections and Community Safety & Education assigned personnel), shall be scheduled to work a forty (40) hour, ten (10) hours per day, four (4) day work week, beginning at 7:00 a.m. and ending at 5:00 p.m., which four (4) day period shall be scheduled between Monday and Friday. Employees under such schedule shall be entitled to a thirty (30) minute lunch break under the same provision in Section 5(D).

Section 9. Transfer from One Shift Schedule to Another.

An employee who is transferred and, as a result, changes from one shift assignment to another (e.g., twenty-four (24) hour shift to eight (8) hour shift) shall have a minimum of eighteen (18) hours off from the time s/he completes her/his last shift on her/his original schedule until the time s/he must report for duty on the new schedule to which s/he is assigned. No overtime shall accrue to any individual transferred in conformance with this section.

Section 10.

The provisions of this Article can be changed by mutual agreement between the City and the Union.

ARTICLE 16.

WORKING OUT OF CLASSIFICATION

- A. An employee who works in a higher classification shall be paid at the higher classification rate of pay for actual time worked in that classification.
- B. The assigned Fire Engineer who works as a District Chief Aide shall be paid at the higher classification rate of pay for actual time worked only in the absence of a District Chief.

It is intended that higher classification pay be given to the Fire Engineer that is assigned as a District Chief's Aide only when the District Chief is off on some type of leave (i.e., vacation, sick leave, administrative leave, etc.) or upgraded to Assistant Chief and a Captain is receiving higher classification pay for performing the duties of the District Chief. The contractual wording, "...in the absence of the District Chief...," does not include time where the District Chief is not in physical proximity of the Aide but is otherwise on-duty and not being replaced by a Captain.

ARTICLE 17.

VACATIONS

Section 1. Vacation Accrual.

Non-Forty Hour Employees: The following is a vacation accrual schedule which shall be implemented for non-forty hour employees covered by this Agreement: Employees will accrue vacation days according to the following schedule, minus any vacation days previously borrowed.

Beginning of Probation through 10 years of completed Service – 15.25

days.

Beginning 11th year through 15th year of completed Service – 20.25

days. Beginning 16th year of Service – 25.25 days.

In the future should the number of vacation days provided to San Antonio Police Officers increase, the amount of vacation days will increase to match police department schedules for department seniority, taking into account Association Business Leave hours on both sides.

Forty Hour Employees: The following is a vacation accrual schedule which shall be implemented for forty (40) hour employees covered by this Agreement: Employees will accrue vacation days according to the following schedule, minus any vacation days previously borrowed.

Beginning of Probation through 10 years of completed Service – 15.25

days. Beginning 11th year through 15th year of completed Service –

20.25 days. Beginning 16th year of Service – 25.25 days.

In the future should the number of vacation days provided to San Antonio Police Officers increase, the amount of vacation days for Fire Fighters will increase to match police department schedules for department seniority, taking into account Association Business Leave hours on both sides.

Section 2. Additional Vacation Hours.

In addition to the vacation accrual amounts outlined in Section 1 of this Article, beginning the first full pay period after October 1, of each year, each employee shall receive an additional 63 hours of vacation each fiscal year. This Section provides hours for Article 6, Section 4 Union Leave.

Section 3. Floating Vacation Shifts (FVS).

- A. Except as provided in Section 3, Perfect Attendance Leave, an employee may request from her/his accrued vacation leave, up to four (4) shifts. This leave is to be taken from her/his scheduled vacation.
- B. An employee must apply in writing no less than prior to the beginning of the shift (or the workday, for 40 hour employees) prior to the shift being taken. Selection will be made on a first-come, first-served basis, by log date and time entry at a location to be designated by the Division Head.
- C. There will be a maximum of the four (4) six (6) employees allowed off on FVS per shift (two (2) three (3) in Fire Suppression and two (2) three (3) in EMS, and one (1) additional

FVS per year per paramedic), with the exception of holidays or the day before or after a holiday. If a person requests a floating vacation shift and is denied and the employee calls in sick for that shift, s/he must provide a physician's certificate signed by a physician upon her/his return to duty.

D. Upon the effective date of this agreement, an additional Ffour (4) employees will be allowed off on defined payback floating vacation shift ("Defined Payback FVS") per shift (an additional two (2) in Fire Suppression and two (2) in EMS), with the exception of holidays or the day before or after a holiday. If an employee requests a Defined Payback FVS and is denied and the employee calls in sick for that shift, s/he must provide a physician's certificate signed by a physician upon his/her return to duty. At the time the bargaining unit employee makes the request for a Defined Payback FVS, the Fire Chief will provide up to three optional dates from the employee's remaining scheduled vacation days during the same calendar year and the employee shall, at that time, select the payback date from the options provided or the employee may choose not to use a Defined Payback FVS.

Section 4. Perfect Attendance Leave (PAL).

- A. Any employee who achieves perfect attendance over a six (6) month period shall be entitled to utilize two (2) additional shifts of accrued vacation leave outside of scheduled vacation periods plus may convert one (1) shift of sick leave for use as a floating vacation shift in accordance with the provisions of this section, hereinafter to be called "perfect attendance leave". Employees who have completed their 25th year of service shall be entitled to convert an additional one shift of sick leave, for a total of two (2) per sixth month time frame, for use as a floating vacation shift in accordance with the provisions of this section, hereinafter to be called "Perfect Attendance Leave." Perfect Attendance Leave shall be used during the subsequent six (6) months.
- B. The Chief shall provide a minimum of three (3) slots in Fire Suppression, two (2) slots in EMS, and one (1) slot in each other division which shall be available solely for perfect attendance leave.
- C. An employee must apply, in the manner provided per Department policy, no less than prior to the beginning of the shift (or the workday, for forty (40) hour employees) prior to the shift being taken. Selection will be made on a first-come, first served basis, by log date and time entry at a location to be designated by the Division Head.
- D. "Perfect attendance" shall mean that the employee has not utilized any of the following types of leave:
 - 1. sick leave,
 - 2. emergency leave (provided that use of bereavement leave, although taken on an emergency leave basis, shall not be a disqualification under this section),

- 3. line of duty leave (provided that use of LOD leave for a portion of a shift, as to those employees that return to work on of the following shift, shall not be a disqualification under this section),
- 4. leave without pay, and
- 5. suspensions.
- E. For purposes of this section, six (6) months shall be defined as consecutive calendar months, beginning the first shift hour in October, and the first shift hour in April.
- F. There shall be no restricted days at the beginning of October or April that are off limits for PAL conversion. Current eligibility time frames coinciding with the first half and second half of the fiscal year remain in place. A Fire Fighter that meets eligibility requirements prior to the current 15-day request cutoff may apply for a PAL conversion on these currently restricted dates. If said Fire Fighter becomes ineligible within fifteen (15) calendar days of the scheduled PAL shift, her/his PAL conversion shall be cancelled and s/he shall be required to make other arrangements to cover that shift.

Section 5. Bonus Days Leave.

- A. Each employee shall be entitled to two (2) additional leave days for each six (6) months of "perfect attendance."
- B. Employees not working for one of the following reasons are not eligible to receive the two (2) days perfect attendance bonus:
 - 1. sick leave.
 - 2. LOD (provided that the use of LOD leave for a portion of a shift, as to those employees that return to work in the following shift, shall not be a disqualification under this section),
 - 3. emergency leave,
 - 4. leave without pay, and
 - 5. suspensions.
- C. The types of leave that will not adversely affect the employee's entitlement to the perfect attendance bonus are:
 - 1. LOD (provided that the use of LOD leave for a portion of a shift, as to those employees that return to work on the following shift),
 - 2. properly scheduled and authorized vacation days,
 - 3. holidays,
 - 4. compensatory time,
 - 5. bereavement leave,
 - 6. administrative leave.
 - 7. time restored by the commissioner or an arbitrator (hearing examiner); and
 - 8. military leave.

- D. For purposes of this Section, effective October 1, 2011, six (6) months shall be defined as consecutive calendar months, beginning October 1st and April 1st.
- E. Bonus day leave shall be taken at the employee's choice of either pay or FVS. If the employee elects to receive pay in lieu of time, the City shall pay the employee her/his amount at the same time each year as the City pays other City employees their sick leave buy back, but no later than Christmas Eve day. If the employee elects to receive pay in lieu of time, the City shall pay the employee her/his earned Bonus day leave at the employee's regular rate of pay. This amount shall be paid at the same time each year as the City pays other City employees their sick leave buy back, but no later than Christmas Eve day. If the employee elects to use Bonus Leave as time off, the employee must schedule the time off in accordance with Department policy.
- F. The end of the fiscal year (September 30th) will be the cut-off for reporting bonus leave eligibility. If the employee has not chosen to take bonus days earned in a fiscal year as time off by October 15th of the next fiscal year, the employee will be paid for earned bonus leave. All bonus days earned in a fiscal year that have not already been taken as time off will be paid as outlined in Section 5 E. of this Article unless the employee elects to take the bonus days as time off in the following fiscal year.

Section 6. Short Notice Vacation Leave.

Effective January 1, 2012, an employee will be eligible to use up to two (2) shifts of Short Notice Vacation Leave (SNVL) per calendar year. This leave shall be taken from the employee's remaining scheduled vacation.

The Firefighting and EMS Divisions shall offer SNVL shifts to employees, the availability and number of which shall be based upon staffing levels and at the discretion of the Shift Commanders. Divisions shall notify employees of the number of SNVL opportunities available no later than the start of the shift on which the opportunity exists.

Section 7.

This Article is intended to supersede the Terms of any statutory provisions including Section 142.0013(c) of the Texas Local Government Code, pursuant to Section 174.006 of the Texas Local Government Code. The parties further agree that this provision was mutually intended by the parties in the prior agreement to override inconsistent provisions under state law. The Association agrees to deny any grievance filed by a class or individual against the City asserting that the City owes the Fire Fighter or class additional vacation days under the prior or current agreement as not stating a valid contract claim. The Association additionally agrees that the City has a complete defense to any lawsuits for past claims or claims during the contract term, and agrees to provide non-economic support to the City in its defense of any such claims because said claims are barred under the terms of the agreements and other legal defenses.

ARTICLE 18.

HOLIDAYS

Section 1.

All employees covered by this Agreement shall be granted thirteen (13) legal holidays. All holidays shall be accrued and taken in accordance with Departmental policy. In the future should the number of holidays provided to San Antonio Police Officers increase, the amount of holidays for Fire Fighters will increase to match Police Department schedules.

Section 2.

All employees who work on a shift during a Premium Holiday listed below shall be paid an additional one-half (1/2) time that of her/his/her regular rate of pay for the actual hours worked during the Premium Holiday. Actual hours paid for both shifts working a Premium Holiday will not exceed twenty four (24) hours. Holiday pay shall not apply to those employees who are working an overtime opportunity.

Premium Holidays shall commence at 12:01 a.m. and end twenty four (24) hours later at 12:00 a.m. and shall include the following eight (8) holidays:

New Year's Day Easter Sunday Independence Day Veteran's Day Thanksgiving Day Christmas Eve Christmas Day New Year's Eve

Section 3.

This Article is intended to supersede the Terms of any statutory provisions including Section 142.0013(c) of the Texas Local Government Code, pursuant to Section 174.006 of the Texas Local Government Code. The parties further agree that this provision was mutually intended by the parties in the prior agreement to override inconsistent provisions under state law. The Association agrees to deny any grievance filed by a class or individual against the City asserting that the City owes the Fire Fighter or class additional holidays under the prior or current agreement as not stating a valid contract claim. The Association additionally agrees that the City has a complete defense to any lawsuits for past claims or claims during the contract term,

and agrees to provide non-economic support to the City in its defense of any such claims because said claims are barred under the terms of the agreements and other legal defenses.

ARTICLE 19.

BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

Section 1.

In the event of death in the immediate family of an employee who is otherwise assigned to duty, the employee shall be granted time off with pay as follows:

- A. Employees working Fire Suppression, Communications and EMS employees working forty-two (42) hour work week shall be granted two (2) shifts off following the death. Unless exclusive permission is received from the Fire Chief, the working days as outlined by this Section shall be taken within fourteen (14) calendar days from the date of the death of the family member. Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- B. Other employees shall be granted four (4) working days off following the death. Unless exclusive permission is received from the Fire Chief, the working days as outlined by this Section shall be taken within fourteen (14) calendar days from the date of the death of the family member. Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- C. In conformity with the current practice, employees who experience a family emergency shall be placed on FMLA upon compliance with the statutory requirements, until such time the employee indicates that the family member dies. At such time the employee is placed on bereavement leave.

The immediate family shall be defined as the employee's mother, father, legal spouse, child, brother, sister, half-siblings, grandmother, grandfather, mother-in-law, and father-in-law, spouse's grandparents, grandchildren, step-parent, step-children or other members of the immediate household.

Section 2.

Employees in the Firefighting Division may use one (1) shift of Bereavement Leave without loss of F.L.S.A. overtime. However, employees who use their second bereavement leave shift shall lose F.L.S.A. overtime for both bereavement leave shifts. In the event a Fire Fighter uses bereavement leave on more than three (3) occasions in any one year, F.L.S.A. overtime shall be lost for such leave and each occasion thereafter.

Section 3.

In the event an employee is on military leave during the occurrence of a death in the immediate family and, as a result, is required by the military to make up the time taken off from military leave, s/he shall be entitled to be eavement leave as provided in this Article.

Section 4.

The Chief shall have discretion in cases that are found to be fraudulent requests or use of bereavement leave to deny any employee such bereavement leave provided, however, that such denial shall be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 20.

UNIFORM ITEMS AND PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT

Section 1. Uniforms.

A. Uniform Commissary

1. At the time of the signing of this Agreement, the parties acknowledge that the City has provided the employees an initial issue of uniforms, as such term is defined by the Commissary System Contract. The City agrees to make available uniforms to employees, on an as-needed replacement basis, in accordance with the generally prevailing operational policies and practices in effect at the time of the signing of this Agreement, except as specifically modified herein; and with the full understanding that the City would not be obligated for anything beyond such generally prevailing operational policies and practices in effect at the time of the signing of this Agreement. except as specifically modified herein; and with the full understanding that the City would not be obligated for anything beyond such generally prevailing operational policies and practices in effect at the time of the signing of this Agreement, except as specifically modified herein; and with the full understanding that the City would not be obligated for anything beyond such generally prevailing operational policies and practices in effect at the time of the signing of this Agreement unless expressly set forth in this Article.

B. Acquisition of Uniform Items

- 1. Beginning with the execution of this agreement and throughout its term, it is the City's responsibility to make uniform items available at the commissary location from 7:45 a.m. to 4:30 p.m., Monday through Friday, except City Holidays.
- 2. It is the employee's responsibility to acquire the necessary uniform items from the commissary or otherwise and present themselves properly attired for work under Department policies. The City shall have no duty to pick up or deliver uniform items to employees.

C. Uniform Credit System

- 1. The City shall establish a uniform credit system under a revised commissary contract whereby each employee shall have a <u>five_six_hundred dollars</u> (\$6500.00) credit assigned to that employee to allow the employee to acquire and maintain her/his/her uniform items, not classified as PPE. Each employee shall be assigned a <u>five_six_hundred dollar</u> (\$6500.00) credit each fiscal year thereafter. "Fiscal year" shall hereinafter refer to the period from October 1st through September 30th.
- 2. Existing minimum specifications for uniform items available to employees under the Commissary System in effect on September 30, 2002 shall remain available for purchase by the employee throughout the life of this Agreement.
- 3. Uniform items not required by Department policy at the time of the signing of this Agreement, shall not be mandated unless by mutual agreement or legislative change.
- 4. Employees shall only use the designated credit to acquire and maintain uniform items used in the performance of their duties. All uniform items purchased by the employee using said credit must meet the requirements set forth in the Department's uniform policies.
- 5. In the event an employee's designated credit is exhausted during the fiscal year and said employee needs or is required to purchase a uniform item(s), the employee shall be responsible for acquiring the uniform item(s) at their own expense.
- 6. Any unused credit shall not be carried forward to the following fiscal year.

D. Additional Clothing Allowance

Effective October 1, 2024, it is the Parties' intent to reallocate the Employees' clothing allowance to Employees' base salary.2012, each employee shall receive an additional clothing allowance of three hundred and sixty (\$360.00) per fiscal year. Effective October 1, 2013, each employee's clothing allowance shall increase to seven hundred and twenty (\$720.00) per fiscal year. Such amounts shall be paid during the month of October in the off cycle by separate check or direct deposit as the City shall determine.

E. Clothing Allowances Applicable to Probationary Fire Fighters

Upon completion of the Training Academy, Probationary Fire Fighters shall receive their full uniform credit as defined in this Article.

F. Cleaning of Uniform Items

The employee shall continue to be responsible for routine cleaning of uniforms items in accordance with generally applicable policies and operational practices in effect at the time

of the signing of this Agreement; and with the full understanding that the City would not be obligated for anything beyond such generally applicable operational policies and practices in effect at the time of the signing of this Agreement unless expressly set forth in this Article.

G. Modification of Amount

The parties have negotiated this Article in recognition of the City's interest in achieving fiscal certainty in its obligation under this Agreement. If changes in the law, rules or agency interpretation occur under this Agreement which result in new or increased City costs related to reclassifying current employee uniform items as of the signing of this agreement into PPE, the City shall be entitled to reduce the amounts of any limit or credit as follows:

- 1. Reclassification of uniforms shall reduce the amount by the actual increased cost resulting from reclassification but not more than \$500 per year;
- 2. Reclassification of shoes shall reduce the amount by the actual increased cost resulting from reclassification but not more than \$175 per year.
- H. Each of the City's obligations in this Article which involve any change in existing agreements or funding levels are conditioned upon City Council approval of amended agreements and appropriation of funds in future fiscal cycles, and, absent same, such obligations shall not become effective or applicable. In the event that City Council fails to approve any agreements, employees shall be entitled to the credit amount upon presentation of actual expense receipts for approved uniform items.

Section 2. Personal Protective Equipment (PPE).

The City acknowledges and accepts its obligations under state and federal law pertaining to Personal Protective Equipment (PPE). The City agrees to meet or exceed the Texas Commission on Fire Protection's (TCFP) specifications for PPE, or the most recent TCFP PPE standards in the event the TCFP is dissolved. Any disputes concerning compliance with state or federal law shall be resolved by resorting to the appropriate state or federal agency. Any disputes concerning specifications for PPE shall be subject to the grievance and arbitration articles of this agreement as contractual issues.

ARTICLE 21.

PARKING

The City shall provide, without cost to the employees assigned to Fire Station Number 1, Fire Department Administration Building, Communications, and Arson, adequate parking space adjacent to or near those work locations.

ARTICLE 22.

INCENTIVE PAY

Section 1. Educational.

- A. Fire Fighters holding certain Associates, Bachelors, or Masters degrees shall receive educational incentive pay. The degrees shall be from an accredited learning institution of higher education recognized by the State Board of Education in the State in which the college resides and accredited by the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools or a similar accrediting organization recognized by the United States Department of Education.
 - 1. Fire Fighters holding an Associate's Degree shall receive one hundred eighty five dollars (\$185.00) per month.
 - 2. Fire Fighters holding a Bachelor's Degree shall receive two hundred ninety dollars (\$290.00) per month.
 - 3. Fire Fighters holding a Master's Degree shall receive three hundred and ten dollars (\$310.00) per month.
- B. Employees may submit degrees by January 1, April 1, July 1, and October 1 of each year to be eligible for the educational incentive payments the beginning of the following quarter (Jan. 1, Apr. 1, July 1, and Oct. 1). Payments called for hereunder shall be made in accordance with current payroll policies of the City.

The City shall provide \$75,000 each year to fund a Tuition Reimbursement Program. Tuition reimbursement funds shall not carry over to the next fiscal year. The Tuition Reimbursement Program shall be implemented and administered in accordance with Department policy or its successor. In the event that employees have received or will receive funding from another source such as grants, scholarships, etc., including receipt of state funding for fire science courses, tuition reimbursement shall become a secondary source of funding and shall not serve as double payment for tuition expenses.

Fire Fighters shall be entitled to receive reimbursement for tuition, fees, on-campus parking and the price of required text(s) at a college or university for course hours in an accredited degree program. Reimbursement shall be made in accordance with the following schedule:

Course Grade	Amount of Reimbursement
A	100%
В	90%
C	80%
D or F	0

Such reimbursements for tuition and fees shall not exceed amounts set by Texas state-supported institutions for similar or related courses and shall only be paid at Texas residency rates.

Section 2. HAZ-MAT Incentive. Special Operations Unit Assignment Pay

Personnel assigned to the Hazardous Material (Haz-Mat) Team shall receive a \$100.00 per month incentive during their active assignment.

Employees initially assigned to any of the following units shall receive fifty (\$50) dollars per month until such time the employee is deemed qualified by the Fire Chief. The employee must be assigned for more than one-half of the month to qualify for this incentive. No partial payment shall be made for working one-half (1/2) or less of the calendar month.

Personnel assigned to the following units shall receive a \$100 dollars per month incentive during their active assignment:

Hazardous Material Team
Technical Rescue Team
Aviation
Wildfire Team

Section 3. E.M.T. Certification Pay. It is the Parties' intent that as of October 1, 2024 certain certification pay is reallocated to Employees' base salary.

A. Employees holding a Basic E.M.T. certificate obtained from the State and as a result of having completed a City-approved course of instruction shall receive the following incentive payments based upon years of service beginning with the 5th year of service as a Basic E.M.T. (EMT-B) with the City for as long as certification is maintained and the employee is authorized to perform by the Medical Director:

Beginning of certification through 4 years of service as a Basic E.M.T. \$ 60.00 per month Beginning of 5th year through 8th year of service as a Basic E.M.T. \$110.00 per month Beginning of 9th year of service as a Basic E.M.T. \$160.00 per month

Effective October 1, 20242012:

Beginning of certification through 4 years of service as a Basic E.M.T. \$ 75.00 per month Beginning of 5th year through 8th year of service as a Basic E.M.T. \$ 50125.00 per month

Beginning of 9th year of service as a Basic E.M.T. \$10075.00 per month

B. If a paramedic transfers out of paramedic duties in EMS, Communications or Aviation to function as a Basic E.M.T., and has continuously maintained her/his certification as a paramedic or obtains a Basic E.M.T. certification, then all prior service as a paramedic in EMS, Communications, or Aviation shall be counted toward determining the level of incentive to which s/he would be entitled.

Section 4. E.M.T. Training for Non-Certified Employees.

The City shall train sixty (60) employees in E.M.T. certification whose initial employment date was prior to January 1, 1979, or who do not currently possess an E.M.T. certification. Training will be offered in order of seniority and will be paid for by the City. The Chief shall have the right to adjust work schedules of employees receiving training in order to best accomplish this mission.

Section 5. Paramedic Certification Pay. It is the Parties' intent that as of October 1, 2024 certain certification pay is reallocated to Employee's base salary.

- A. Employees attending the initial paramedic training course shall receive \$50 per month until such time they become eligible for paramedic incentive pay. The employee must be assigned to the class for more than one-half of the month to qualify. No partial payment shall be made for attending one-half (1/2) or less of the first calendar month of the initial paramedic training course.
- B. All employees who are certified by the State and as a result of having completed a Cityapproved course of instruction as Paramedics and who actually work in EMS, Communications, and/or Aviation, and maintain authorization by the Medical Director shall receive the following incentive payments based upon years of service as a Paramedic with the City:

Beginning of assignment through 4 years of service as a Paramedic \$200.00 per month Beginning 5th year through 8th year of service as a Paramedic \$250.00 per month Beginning 9th year of service as a Paramedic \$300.00 per month

Effective October 1, 20242012:

Beginning of assignment through 4 years of service as a Paramedic \$250175.00 per month

Beginning 5th year through 8th year of service as a Paramedic \$225300.00 per month Beginning 9th year of service as a Paramedic \$275350.00 per month

- C. Unless otherwise specified in this Article, these amounts shall be paid to the Paramedic for so long as the individual is employed by the Department and actually works as a Paramedic in EMS, Communications, and/or Aviation. (The use of administrative leave shall not be cause to deny incentive pay under the previous sentence. However, a Paramedic who has expended all available sick leave and is thus either eligible for or actually utilizing the provisions of Article 24, Volunteering for Injured Firefighters, will no longer be entitled to receive incentive pay.) Should a Paramedic transfer or be assigned to a position outside of EMS, Communications, and/or Aviation and yet maintains her/his Paramedic certification, s/he shall be entitled to E.M.T. certification pay but not Paramedic certification pay.
- D. Should a Fire Fighter receive training on her/his own time and at her/his own expense at a City-approved school, s/he shall be eligible for E.M.T. certification pay.
- E. If a Paramedic leaves EMS, Communications, and/or Aviation and later returns, and if said employee has continuously maintained her/his certification as a Paramedic, then all prior service as a Paramedic in EMS, Communications, or Aviation shall be counted toward determining the level of incentive to which s/he would be entitled.
- F. Each E.M.T. or Paramedic assigned to EMS, Communications, or Aviation working an applicable shift for one-half (1/2) or more of any calendar month shall be entitled to the incentive pay as previously provided for that assignment for the full month. No partial payment shall be made for working less than one-half (1/2) of the calendar month.
- Section 6. Firefighting Division Paramedic Certification Pay. It is the Parties' intent that as of October 1, 2024 certain certification pay is reallocated to Employee's base salary.
- A. Effective October 1, 20242012, all employees who are certified by the State and as a result of having completed a City-approved course of instruction as Paramedics and who actually work as a Paramedic in the Firefighting Division, and maintain authorization by the Medical Director shall receive the following incentive payments based upon years of service as a Paramedic with the City:
 - Beginning of assignment through 4 years of service as a Paramedic \$75150.00 per month
 - Beginning 5th year through 8th year of service as a Paramedic \$125200.00 per month
 - Beginning 9th year of service as a Paramedic \$175250.00 per month
- B. Unless otherwise specified in this Article, these amounts shall be paid to the Paramedic for so long as the individual is employed by the Department and actually works as a Paramedic in the Firefighting Division. (The use of administrative leave shall not be cause to deny incentive pay under the previous sentence. However, a Paramedic who has expended all available sick leave and is thus either eligible for or actually utilizing the provisions of Article 24, Volunteering for Injured Firefighters, will no longer be entitled

- to receive incentive pay.) An employee receiving paramedic certification pay under this Section shall not be entitled to E.M.T. pay.
- C. All prior service as a Paramedic in EMS, Communications, or Aviation shall be counted toward determining the level of incentive to which s//he would be entitled if said employee has continuously maintained her/his certification as a Paramedic.
- D. Each Paramedic assigned to the Firefighting Division working an applicable shift for one-half (1/2) or more of any calendar month shall be entitled to the incentive pay as previously provided for that assignment for the full month. No partial payment shall be made for working less than one-half (1/2) of the calendar month.

Section 7. Authorization by the Medical Director and Maintenance of Certification.

- A. Any E.M.T. or Paramedic who scores less than that score set by the Medical Director on the State certification examination will be provided an opportunity to retake the examination. If the employee scores less than that score set by the Medical Director the examination on the second attempt, said employee shall no longer be entitled to E.M.T. or paramedic incentive pay as of the date of scoring less than that score set by the Medical Director.
- B. Any E.M.T. or Paramedic who is de-authorized by the Medical Director shall no longer be entitled to E.M.T. or paramedic incentive pay until such time s/he is re-authorized by the Medical Director.
- C. The parties agree that any E.M.T. or paramedic de-authorized by the medical director shall have the right to receive designated tutorial assistance, as designated by the medical director, on City time and expense.
- D. Any paramedic transferred to fire suppression as a result of de-authorization shall lose years of service credits for the years of paramedic service, for the purpose of computing E.M.T. incentive pay.

Section 8. Special Duty Pay.

- A. The Fire Chief may assign personnel to special tasks or duties, i.e., computer analyst, video specialists, etc., and when doing so will agree to compensate them at the next-higher rank than the rank they occupy for the duration of the assignment. This special duty does not create a position.
- B. The Fire Chief may assign an employee as airport coordinator; and, when doing so, will compensate her/him at the rate of the next higher rank above that held by that employee so designated for the duration of the designation.

This Section of the Agreement may not be used to eliminate classified positions (ranks).

Section 9. Arson Assignment and TCOLE Certification Pay.

A. All employees selected for assignment to the Arson Division shall receive fifty dollars (\$50) per month beginning the first full month after the start of the Police Training Academy program until such time they receive their arson investigator certification.

Arson Investigators who hold a Basic, Intermediate, Advanced or Masters Certification issued by the Texas Commission on Law Enforcement shall receive Certification pay based on the following monthly schedule:

<u>Basic</u>	<u>Intermediate</u>	Advanced	<u>Masters</u>
\$85.00	\$125.00	<u>\$178.00</u>	\$231.00

Certification payments shall be made monthly at the same time that E.M.T. and Paramedic incentive pays are made. The Fire Chief shall have the right to require the Arson Investigator to produce a copy of the certification or other valid verification prior to approval for the employee to receive such payment. This payment shall be in addition to any other certification pay an Arson Investigator may be qualified for.

- B. All certified arson investigators, assigned to the Arson Division shall receive three hundred fifty dollars (\$350.00) per month assignment pay during each month of actual assignment.
- C. Each certified arson investigator assigned to Arson working an applicable assignment for one-half (1/2) or more of any calendar month shall be entitled to assignment pay for that assignment for the full month. No partial payment shall be made for working less than one-half (1/2) of the calendar month.
- D. Effective October 1, 2012 Sub-Section B shall no longer apply.

Section 10. Aviation Incentive.

- A. Employees initially assigned to the Aviation Division or assigned to Station 22 in support of Stinson Municipal Airport, said employee shall receive fifty dollars (\$50) per month until such time they receive their Crash Rescue Fire Fighter certification. The employee must be assigned for more than one-half of the month to qualify for this incentive. No partial payment shall be made for working one-half (1/2) or less of the calendar month.
- B. Each certified Crash Rescue Fire Fighter assigned to the Aviation Division or assigned to Station 22 in support operations at Stinson Municipal Airport shall receive a one hundred dollar (\$100.00) per month incentive pay during her/his or her active assignment.

Section 11. Technical Rescue Team Incentive.

A. Employees initially assigned to the Technical Rescue Team shall receive fifty dollars (\$50) per month until such time the employee is deemed qualified by the Fire Chief. The employee must be assigned for more than one-half of the month to qualify for this incentive. No partial payment shall be made for working one-half (1/2) or less of the calendar month.

B. Each Fire Fighter assigned to the Technical Rescue Team determined to be qualified by the Fire Chief shall receive a hundred dollar (\$100) per month incentive during her/his or her active assignment.

Section <u>1210</u>. Training Instructors Incentive.

- A. Employees initially assigned to the Training Division shall receive fifty dollars (\$50) per month until such time they receive their Instructors Certificate. The employee must be assigned for more than one-half of the month to qualify for this incentive. No partial payment shall be made for working one-half (1/2) or less of the calendar month.
- B. Each employee assigned to the Training Division who holds an Instructors Certificate shall be entitled to receive three hundred and fifty dollars (\$350) per month incentive during her/his or her active assignment to Training.

Effective October 1, 2012 Sub-Section B shall no longer apply.

Section 1311. Fire Inspectors Incentive.

- A. Employee initially assigned to the Fire Prevention Division shall receive fifty dollars (\$50) per month until such time they receive their Inspectors Certificate. The employee must be assigned for more than one-half of the month to qualify for this incentive. No partial payment shall be to employees made for working one-half (1/2) or less of the calendar month.
- B. Each employee assigned to the Fire Prevention Division who holds an Inspectors certificate shall be entitled to receive one hundred dollars (\$100) per month incentive during her/his or her active assignment to the Fire Prevention Division.

C. Effective October 1, 2012 Sub-Section B shall no longer apply.

Section 1412. Language Skills Pay.

Employees shall be entitled to Language Skills Pay upon satisfactory completion of the testing requirements for proficiency as set forth in Administrative Directive 4.38. The amount shall not be less than the amount payable to other City employees.

Section 15. Services Division Incentive.

- A. Each employee assigned to the Services Division shall be entitled to receive one hundred dollars (\$100) per month incentive during her/his or her active assignment to the Services Division.
- B. Effective October 1, 2012 this Section shall no longer apply.

Section 1613. Fire Certification Pay. It is the Parties' intent that as of October 1, 2024 certain certification pay is reallocated to Employee's base salary.

Fire Fighters who hold a Basic, Intermediate, Advanced or Master Certification issued by the Texas Commission on Fire Protection shall receive Fire Certification pay based on the following monthly schedule:

Basic	Intermediate	Advanced	Masters
Reallocated to base pay as of 10/1/2024\$65	\$ <u>30</u> -95	\$ <u>70</u> 135	\$ <u>110</u> 175

Certification payments shall be made monthly at the same time that E.M.T. and Paramedic incentive pays are made. The Fire Chief shall have the right to require the Fire Fighter to produce a copy of the certification or other valid verification prior to approval for the employee to receive such payment.

Section 1714. Field Training Officer (FTO) and Medical Training Officer MTO).

The Fire Chief shall have the authority to establish an FTO program and to set an amount for FTO incentive pay during the term of this agreement Employees assigned as Field Training Officer or Medical Training Officer shall receive two-hundred dollars (\$200) per month. The employee must be assigned for more than one-half of the month to qualify for this incentive. No partial payment shall be made for working one half (1/2) or less of the calendar month.

Section **18**15. Preemption.

Article 37 Section 2 is applicable to this Article.

Section 1916. Administrative Assignment Incentive.

Effective October 1, 2012, all non-appointed, forty (40) hour per week employees permanently assigned to a forty (40) hour schedule receive \$450.00 per month. The employee must be assigned for more than one-half (1/2) of the month to qualify for this incentive. No partial payment shall be made for working one-half (1/2) or less of the calendar month. This incentive does not apply to an employee who receives special duty pay under Section 8 of this Article.

Section 17. Incentive pays established in this Article shall not be paid to employees on leave without pay.

ARTICLE 23.

SICK LEAVE

Section 1. Definitions.

A. For purposes of this Article, the following definitions shall be used:

- 1. "undocumented absence" shall mean any absence due to sick leave without a physician's certificate, regardless of duration during any working day. When counting such absences, all or part of each working day or shift shall count as a separate absence.
- 2. "physician's certificate" shall mean a note provided by a physician licensed to practice medicine which states that s/he has examined the employee and that the employee was unable to work due to illness. It is the parties intent that the purpose of the information to be provided by the physician's certificate is to document the physician's determination that the employee has a bona fide illness, injury, or disability, which has existed for the entire period of the leave being claimed.
- **3.** "physician licensed..." shall mean and include medical doctors (M.D.), osteopaths (D.O.) chiropractors (D.C.) and dentists (D.D.S.) who have met applicable licensing requirements, as the context of the condition or illness requires.
- **4.** "voluntary overtime" shall mean overtime which is neither holdover time nor when an employee is ordered to work overtime.

Section 2. Circumstances Requiring Physician's Certificate.

Throughout this Section, "working day" shall mean 24 hours for a 24-hour shift employee and "working day" shall mean 16 or 20 hours for a 8-hour or 10-hour employee respectively.

- A. All employees shall be required to submit a physician's certificate under the following circumstances:
 - 1. All twenty-four (24) hour shift Eemployees using more than two (2) consecutive working days of sick leave shall be required to provide a physician's certificate at the beginning of their 3rd scheduled working day. All other employees using more than three (3) consecutive working days of sick leave shall be required to provide a physician's certificate. That physician's certificate must be provided electronically through a secure communication or in person no later than the beginning of their 3rd scheduled working day stating the employee's date of return to work.

- 2. All employees who use sick leave by leaving during a shift and returning during that shift or by reporting for duty after the shift begins shall be required to provide a physician's certificate at the shift when they return to work.
- 3. All employees who utilize sick leave in conjunction with her/his/her_their scheduled work day or work shift immediately preceding or following any other form of leave, excluding Bereavement Leave, (i.e. annual leave, military leave, administrative leave, leave without pay) shall be required to provide a physician's certificate at the shift when they return to work. Undocumented sick leave and military leave may not be taken together during the same shift.
- 4. All employees who utilize sick leave on the following holidays shall be required to provide a physician's certificate at the shift when they return to work: New Year's Day, Independence Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Eve, Christmas Day, New Year's Eve.
- 4.5. The Chief will establish a procedure for discretionary exemptions form this rule and the provisions of Section 2 for individuals with long term illnesses, injuries or extended hospitalization.
- 5. Once an employee has had six (6) undocumented absences in a fiscal year, s/he is required to provide a physician's certificate for any absence thereafter for the remainder of the year unless the employee has sick leave accrued but unused in an amount equal to or exceeding 50% of the total amount of sick leave s/he has accrued during her/his service in the Fire Department.

Section 3. Timeliness of Issuance of Physician's Certificate.

- A. A physician's certificate must have been issued within 24 hours of the date on which the obligation arises.
- B. If an employee is not successful in obtaining a physician's certificate issued within 24 hours from the time the obligation arises, the employee may elect to be treated under either of the following provisions. The election shall be made upon return to work, at the time the physician's certificate is provided:

1. Forfeiture of Annual or Holiday Leave

- a. In the event that the physician's certificate is not issued within 24 hours, as provided herein, each duty hour after the obligation arises—until the time of issuance, shall be forfeited from either accumulated vacation time, or holiday leave equal to the number of hours.
 - b. Failure to provide such documentation shall not be cause for discipline, other than loss of paid leave, unless it can be shown that intentional misrepresentation has occurred.

- c. It is understood and agreed to that annual or holiday leave that is forfeited under this section may not be used as, or in lieu of, scheduled leave. Any employee who intentionally calls in sick for the purpose of taking unscheduled leave is in violation of this provision.
- 2. Verification of Attempt to See Physician Within 24 Hours
- A. If an employee attempts to see a physician within 24 hours, and is unable to do so, s/he may provide documentation from a licensed medical service provider to that effect to obtain approved leave.
- B. In the event of a subsequent sick leave request during the same fiscal year that is not accompanied by a physician's certificate issued within 24 hours, the employee shall lose sick leave credit for both of the absences, which shall not qualify as sick leave, but shall be forfeited from either accumulated vacation time, or holiday leave equal to the number of hours which the employee was absent. If the period of absence exceeds one shift or one day, the leave forfeited shall be twice the shorter period of time.
- C. Failure to provide such documentation shall not be cause for discipline, other than loss of paid leave, unless it is shown that intentional misrepresentation has occurred.

Section <u>34.</u>——Additional Doctor's Certification and Confidentiality of Medical Information.

- A. Upon request by the Chief, employees shall provide additional (in addition to a physician's certificate) doctor's certification describing the nature of the illness which certification shall be mailed or delivered in a sealed envelope marked "confidential" to the Chief.
- B. The City shall not release any information concerning any condition or diagnosis, or any associated medical information or test result that is non-discloseable or confidential under state or federal law which may be contained on the physician's certificate to any person or entity without the written consent of the employee, or an order by a court of competent jurisdiction.
- C. If the employee seeks confidential treatment of any matter disclosed by the physician, these certificates shall be delivered or mailed, in a sealed envelope, marked "Medical Information Confidential" directly to the appropriate office at Fire Administration.
- D. No employee or physician shall be expected to provide any information about conditions which are privileged or confidential by law, or which involve a clearly unwarranted invasion of personal privacy. This would include, but is not limited to STD'S or HIV. If a diagnosis or treatment relates to such conditions, the physician may complete this form with a conclusion that the patient's condition prevented work during the specified time period.

Section 5. Loss of Voluntary Overtime.

- A. After two undocumented absences during any fiscal year, an employee will be ineligible for one (1) voluntary overtime opportunity, which loss shall occur either within two (2) shifts or the next opportunity. For each undocumented absence thereafter, the employee shall lose another overtime opportunity in the same manner.
- B. After six (6) undocumented absences during the fiscal year, the Fire Chief has the right to deny eligibility for voluntary overtime for sixty (60) days, on a reasonable basis. Written guidelines for implementing this provision shall be established and disseminated within the department. The Fire Chief may revise these guidelines from time to time.

Section 46. Other Provisions.

- A. After an employee who is eligible for regular retirement has an absence in excess of thirty (30) consecutive working days, the Chief has the right to require a physician's certificate and may require the employee to submit to a Fitness for Duty Examination.
- B. The Union recognizes the City's existing right to contact or attempt to contact an employee either in person or by telephone in a reasonable manner while s/he is on sick leave. Failure of the employee to be at her/his residence, at a location pre-coordinated with her/him.
- C. Supervisor, or attending medical treatment shall be grounds for disciplinary action in accordance with existing rules and regulations. The Chief will establish a procedure for discretionary exemptions from this rule and the provisions of Section 2 for individuals with long term illnesses, injuries or extended hospitalization.
- D.C. The Union recognizes the City's existing right to enforce a policy that the provision of fraudulent medical documentation or deliberately erroneous statements in connection with the provisions of this article shall be grounds for disciplinary action in accordance with the rules and regulations.
- E.D. Nothing in this Article shall be construed to limit in any fashion the right of the Chief to enforce rules and regulations or administrative policies that are not in conflict with this Agreement or State Law.

Section 57. Sick Leave Buy Back.

Beginning January 2014—<u>T</u>the City will buy back at the Fire Fighter's discretion up to ten (10) accrued sick leave days per year on a one-for-one basis at the Fire Fighter's regular rate of pay, provided that the employee requests the buyback in writing on a form provided by the City by the end of the last business day in January; and the employee has a balance at that time of not less than seven (7) months worth of sick leave. Sick Leave buy back will be paid in the first pay period of May of the same year. The total amount available for Sick Leave buy back under this

Section shall not exceed \$1.9 million for the <u>first</u>-fiscal year <u>2014</u> (<u>first year</u>), and shall be capped to increase 5%_per fiscal year thereafter. Sick Leave buy back shall be paid based on seniority in the Department.

ARTICLE 24.

SICK LEAVE BANK

In the event a Fire Fighter is suffering from an non work-related illness or injury which has been diagnosed by a physician as temporary and such diagnosis is provided to the City in writing, and in the event the said Fire Fighter has used all of her/his sick leave, vacation, and all other leaves, s/he may be entitled to the benefits outlined below for a period not to exceed three hundred sixty five (365) calendar days for the same or related illness or injury as per Union policy.

- 1. a. The City shall draft twelve (12) hours sick leave per Fire Fighter after the employee completes her/his probationary period. Any Fire Fighter who desires not to participate must contact the City in writing prior to the completion of her/his probationary period.
 - b. The City shall notify the Union after the sick leave bank hours drop below 480 hours, and in concurrence with the Union President, shall be allowed to draft three (3) hours from all Fire Fighters.
- 2. Fire Fighters may request utilization of the sick leave bank hours by submitting their name to a Committee of three (3) appointed by Local 624.
- 3. No Fire Fighter judged totally and permanently disabled by a physician shall be entitled to utilize this plan to extend the time of her/his retirement.
- 4. The Committee may donate sick leave drafted from each participant in equal amounts up to three (3) employees. If more than three (3) employees are using this, sick leave bank then an amount shall be deducted from the sick leave bank equal to 1.25 times the amount of actual hours used.

ARTICLE 25.

HEALTH BENEFITS

Section 1. Active Fire Fighters Health Benefits.

A. The City shall provide all active Fire Fighters who are eligible with family medical benefits and shall pay the cost of benefits as agreed upon here. The minimum benefits provided are those as stated in the Master Contract Document for the City of San Antonio, San Antonio Professional Fire Fighters Association (referred to as "Master Contract Document"), which

is attached and incorporated herein as Attachment II. Provisions and benefits specified in the Master Contract Document shall not be reduced during the life of this Agreement; however, the City reserves the right to change carriers or plan administrators at any time at its discretion. While the City is prohibited from reducing the provisions and benefits specified in the Master Contract Document during the life of this Agreement, a determination of what medical service is medically necessary for a particular patient, or any reduction in the usual and customary charge for that medical service, will not be construed as a reduction in the benefits; provided that the determination is made in accordance with the procedure and criteria described in the Master Contract Document.

B. Active Fire Fighters covered under this Agreement shall be granted the option of entering into or exiting from the civilian benefits program as provided for by the City to substitute for the basic program as outlined in this Agreement. That option must be exercised by the active Fire Fighter during the re-enrollment period between the dates of October 1, and December 31, of each calendar year.

Section 2.

This Agreement, and the Master Contract Document for health benefits adopted here, shall control the available health benefits during the term of this agreement, for active Fire Fighters.

Section 3.

Health care benefits for active Fire Fighters shall not be terminated, altered, modified or reduced, during the term of the Agreement, except by amendments or successors to this Agreement.

Section 4.

It is understood and agreed that the provisions of this Agreement and the Master Contract Document for health benefits have been drafted in substantial and material reliance upon existing provisions of federal and state law concerning employee health benefits. Any change in federal or state law or regulations which changes the obligations of either party, or the applicability or extent of Medicare benefits, or materially alters the assumptions relied upon in negotiations shall entitle the City or the Union to reopen negotiations concerning health benefits.

Section 5.

Effective April 1, 2020, bargaining Bargaining unit employees will continued to be offered two health plans with plan designs and employee contributions described in the chart below with the understanding that IRS required changes will be implemented in accordance with required laws or regulations:

ITEM	Fire Value Plan		Fire Consumer Driven Health Plan	
	In-Network	Out of Network	In-Network	Out of Network
Office Visits				

Primary Care Specialty Care	\$25 co-pay \$50 co-pay	40% after Deductible 40% after Deductible	0% once deductible is met	0% once deductible is met
Co-insurance	20% after deductible	40% after deductible	0% once deductible is met	0% once deductible is met
(member share)		-		•
Individual Deductible Individual / Family	\$500 / \$1,000	\$1,500 / \$3,000	\$3, <u>2</u> 0 00 / \$6,000	\$4,500 / \$9,000
Individual Out Of Pocket Maximum Individual / Family	\$1,500 / \$3,000	\$3,000 / \$6,000	\$3, <u>2</u> 900 / \$6,000	\$4,500 / \$9,000
All eligible cost share amounts apply toward the Out of Pocket Maximum)				
Once the Out of Pocket Maximum is met, all benefits increase to 100% coverage with no member cost sharing for the remainder of the calendar year, except for monthly employee contributions				
Emergency Room Facility charges	\$250 Co-Pay, then 20% coinsurance. Co-pay waived if admitted	\$250 Co-Pay, then 20% coinsurance. Co-pay waived if admitted	0% once deductible is met	0% once deductible is met
Emergency Room Physician charges	20% after deductible	20% after deductible	0% once deductible is met	0% once deductible is met
Urgent Care	\$50 Co-Pay	40% after deductible	0% once deductible is met	0% once deductible is met
Mental Health Visits	<u>\$25 Co-Pay</u>	40% after deductible	0% once deductible is met	0% once deductible is met
Lifetime Maximum Benefit	Unlimited	Unlimited	Unlimited	Unlimited
Pharmacy Program (CVS Value Formulary Coordination with Calendar Year	or Equivalent)	Not applicable	Yes	Not applicable
Medical Deductible	110	тчот арріїсавіс		140t applicable
Separate In-Network Brand Drug Deductible Per Person	\$100	Not applicable	Covered Non Preventative Drugs are subject to the Calendar Year Deductible	Not applicable
In-Network Rx Out of Pocket Max	All cost share applies to the annual Out of Pocket Maximum above	Not applicable	All cost share applies to the annual Out of Pocket Maximum above	Not applicable
Pharmacy Co-Pays				
Affordable Care Act Preventive Drugs	Covered at 100%	Not Covered	Covered at 100%	
Affordable Care Act Preventive Drugs	No Member Cost Sharing	Not Covered	Covered at 100% No Member Cost Sharing	Not Covered
Affordable Care Act Preventive Drugs Tier 1: 1-30 day supply		Not Covered	No Member Cost Sharing	Not Covered Not Covered
	No Member Cost Sharing \$10 Co-pay (or prescription cost,		No Member Cost Sharing Non ACA preventive drugs are	
Tier 1: 1-30 day supply	No Member Cost Sharing \$10 Co-pay (or prescription cost, whichever is less)	Not Covered	No Member Cost Sharing	Not Covered
Tier 1: 1-30 day supply Tier 2: 1-30 day supply Tier 3: 1-30 day supply	No Member Cost Sharing \$10 Co-pay (or prescription cost, whichever is less) \$25 Co-pay	Not Covered Not Covered	No Member Cost Sharing Non ACA preventive drugs are subject to the same co-pay structure as the Value Plan.	Not Covered
Tier 1: 1-30 day supply Tier 2: 1-30 day supply Tier 3: 1-30 day supply Specialty Drug Tier 1: Retail/Mail 90-day supply Tier 2: Retail/Mail 90-day supply	No Member Cost Sharing \$10 Co-pay (or prescription cost, whichever is less) \$25 Co-pay \$40 Co-pay \$20 Co-pay \$50 Co-pay	Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered	No Member Cost Sharing Non ACA preventive drugs are subject to the same co-pay structure as the Value Plan. All other drugs are subject to the	Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered
Tier 1: 1-30 day supply Tier 2: 1-30 day supply Tier 3: 1-30 day supply Specialty Drug Tier 1: Retail/Mail 90-day supply Tier 2: Retail/Mail 90-day supply Tier 3: Retail/Mail 90-day supply	No Member Cost Sharing \$10 Co-pay (or prescription cost, whichever is less) \$25 Co-pay \$40 Co-pay \$20 Co-pay \$50 Co-pay	Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered	No Member Cost Sharing Non ACA preventive drugs are subject to the same co-pay structure as the Value Plan. All other drugs are subject to the	Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered
Tier 1: 1-30 day supply Tier 2: 1-30 day supply Tier 3: 1-30 day supply Specialty Drug Tier 1: Retail/Mail 90-day supply Tier 2: Retail/Mail 90-day supply	No Member Cost Sharing \$10 Co-pay (or prescription cost, whichever is less) \$25 Co-pay \$40 Co-pay \$20 Co-pay \$50 Co-pay \$80 Co-pay above, with following provisos)	Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered	No Member Cost Sharing Non ACA preventive drugs are subject to the same co-pay structure as the Value Plan. All other drugs are subject to the calendar year deductible.	Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered
Tier 1: 1-30 day supply Tier 2: 1-30 day supply Tier 3: 1-30 day supply Specialty Drug Tier 1: Retail/Mail 90-day supply Tier 2: Retail/Mail 90-day supply Tier 3: Retail/Mail 90-day supply	No Member Cost Sharing \$10 Co-pay (or prescription cost, whichever is less) \$25 Co-pay \$40 Co-pay \$50 Co-pay \$50 Co-pay \$80 Co-pay above, with following provisos) No annual limit *speech includes child born under the plan with developmental disorder or	Not Covered *speech includes child born under the plan with developmental disorder or	No Member Cost Sharing Non ACA preventive drugs are subject to the same co-pay structure as the Value Plan. All other drugs are subject to the calendar year deductible. No annual limit *speech includes child born under the plan with developmental disorder or	Not Covered No annual limit *speech includes child born under the plan with developmental disorder or
Tier 1: 1-30 day supply Tier 2: 1-30 day supply Tier 3: 1-30 day supply Specialty Drug Tier 1: Retail/Mail 90-day supply Tier 2: Retail/Mail 90-day supply Tier 3: Retail/Mail 90-day supply OTHER (Services are provided per provisions Occupational, Speech and Physical	No Member Cost Sharing \$10 Co-pay (or prescription cost, whichever is less) \$25 Co-pay \$40 Co-pay \$20 Co-pay \$50 Co-pay \$80 Co-pay above, with following provisos) No annual limit *speech includes child born under the plan with	Not Covered *Speech includes child born under the plan with	No Member Cost Sharing Non ACA preventive drugs are subject to the same co-pay structure as the Value Plan. All other drugs are subject to the calendar year deductible. No annual limit *speech includes child born under the plan with	Not Covered *Seech includes child born under the plan with
Tier 1: 1-30 day supply Tier 2: 1-30 day supply Tier 3: 1-30 day supply Specialty Drug Tier 1: Retail/Mail 90-day supply Tier 2: Retail/Mail 90-day supply Tier 3: Retail/Mail 90-day supply OTHER (Services are provided per provisions Occupational, Speech and Physical Therapy	No Member Cost Sharing \$10 Co-pay (or prescription cost, whichever is less) \$25 Co-pay \$40 Co-pay \$50 Co-pay \$50 Co-pay \$80 Co-pay above, with following provisos) No annual limit *speech includes child born under the plan with developmental disorder or birth defects	Not Covered *speech includes child born under the plan with developmental disorder or birth defects	No Member Cost Sharing Non ACA preventive drugs are subject to the same co-pay structure as the Value Plan. All other drugs are subject to the calendar year deductible. No annual limit *speech includes child born under the plan with developmental disorder or birth defects	Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered No annual limit *speech includes child born under the plan with developmental disorder or birth defects
Tier 1: 1-30 day supply Tier 2: 1-30 day supply Tier 3: 1-30 day supply Specialty Drug Tier 1: Retail/Mail 90-day supply Tier 2: Retail/Mail 90-day supply Tier 3: Retail/Mail 90-day supply OTHER (Services are provided per provisions Occupational, Speech and Physical Therapy Serious Mental Health Physician	No Member Cost Sharing \$10 Co-pay (or prescription cost, whichever is less) \$25 Co-pay \$40 Co-pay \$50 Co-pay \$50 Co-pay \$50 Co-pay \$80 Co-pay above, with following provisos) *speech includes child born under the plan with developmental disorder or birth defects covered same as any illness	Not Covered *speech includes child born under the plan with developmental disorder or birth defects covered same as any illness	No Member Cost Sharing Non ACA preventive drugs are subject to the same co-pay structure as the Value Plan. All other drugs are subject to the calendar year deductible. No annual limit *speech includes child born under the plan with developmental disorder or birth defects covered same as any illness In network 0% once	Not Covered No annual limit *speech includes child born under the plan with developmental disorder or birth defects covered same as any illness
Tier 1: 1-30 day supply Tier 2: 1-30 day supply Tier 3: 1-30 day supply Specialty Drug Tier 1: Retail/Mail 90-day supply Tier 2: Retail/Mail 90-day supply Tier 3: Retail/Mail 90-day supply OTHER (Services are provided per provisions Occupational, Speech and Physical Therapy Serious Mental Health Physician Chiropractic	No Member Cost Sharing \$10 Co-pay (or prescription cost, whichever is less) \$25 Co-pay \$40 Co-pay \$50 Co-pay \$50 Co-pay \$50 Co-pay above, with following provisos) No annual limit *speech includes child born under the plan with developmental disorder or birth defects covered same as any illness 20% after deductible Limit to six attempts per	Not Covered *speech includes child born under the plan with developmental disorder or birth defects covered same as any illness Not Covered 40% after deductible Limit to six attempts per	No Member Cost Sharing Non ACA preventive drugs are subject to the same co-pay structure as the Value Plan. All other drugs are subject to the calendar year deductible. No annual limit *speech includes child born under the plan with developmental disorder or birth defects covered same as any illness In network 0% once deductible is met 0% after deductible Limit to six attempts per	Not Covered No annual limit *speech includes child born under the plan with developmental disorder or birth defects covered same as any illness Not Covered 0% after deductible Limit to six attempts per
Tier 1: 1-30 day supply Tier 2: 1-30 day supply Tier 3: 1-30 day supply Specialty Drug Tier 1: Retail/Mail 90-day supply Tier 2: Retail/Mail 90-day supply Tier 3: Retail/Mail 90-day supply OTHER (Services are provided per provisions Occupational, Speech and Physical Therapy Serious Mental Health Physician Chiropractic In-Vitro Coverage Routine Physical Exams	No Member Cost Sharing \$10 Co-pay (or prescription cost, whichever is less) \$25 Co-pay \$40 Co-pay \$50 Co-pay \$50 Co-pay \$80 Co-pay above, with following provisos) No annual limit *speech includes child born under the plan with developmental disorder or birth defects covered same as any illness 20% after deductible Limit to six attempts per lifetime	Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered Not Covered No annual limit *speech includes child born under the plan with developmental disorder or birth defects covered same as any illness Not Covered 40% after deductible Limit to six attempts per lifetime 40% after deductible to	No Member Cost Sharing Non ACA preventive drugs are subject to the same co-pay structure as the Value Plan. All other drugs are subject to the calendar year deductible. No annual limit *speech includes child born under the plan with developmental disorder or birth defects covered same as any illness in network 0% once deductible is met 0% after deductible Limit to six attempts per lifetime	Not Covered No annual limit *speech includes child born under the plan with developmental disorder or birth defects covered same as any illness Not Covered 0% after deductible Limit to six attempts per lifetime 0% after deductible to \$300

Immunizations	0%	40% after deductible	0%	0% after deductible
---------------	----	----------------------	----	---------------------

The pharmacy coverage is as outlined in the CVS Value formulary or its equivalent if a new PBM is selected during the contract term.

Employee Monthly Contributions and CDHP plan Health Savings Account contributions are as follows:

			M	onthly Empl	oyee Cont	ributions				
	20	20 2025	2021 2026		2022 2027		2023 2028		2024 2029	
	Value	CDHP	Value	CDHP	Value	CDHP	Value	CDHP	Value	CDHP
EE Only	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
EE & Spouse	\$100.10 \$161.22	\$0.00	\$110.11 \$177.34	\$0.00	\$121.12 \$195.07	\$0.00	\$133.23 \$214.58	\$0.00	\$146.56 \$236.04	\$0.00
EE & Children	\$ 67.10 \$108.06	\$0.00	\$ 73.81 \$118.87	\$0.00	\$81.19 \$130.76	\$0.00	\$ <mark>89.31</mark> \$143.83	\$0.00	\$98.24 \$158.22	_\$0.00
EE &Family	\$166.10 \$267.51	\$0.00	\$182.71 \$294.26	\$0.00	\$200.98 \$323.69	\$0.00	\$221.08 \$356.05	\$0.00	\$243.19 \$391.66	\$0.00
	ŀ	lealth Savin	gs Accoun	t (H.S.A.) Ar	nual City	Contribution	ns (only fo	r CDHP)		
(Voluntary empl	oyee conti	ributions ma	y be mad		le Spendir I.S.A.)	ng Account i	f the empl	oyee is not	eligible fo	r the
	<u>20</u>	<u>25</u> 2020	<u>20</u>	<u>26</u> 2021		<u>27</u> 2022	<u>20</u>	<u>28</u> 2023	<u>20</u>	<u>29</u> 2024
	Value	CDHP	Value	CDHP	Value	CDHP	Value	CDHP	Value	CDHP
EE Only	\$0	\$1,500 <u>\$1675</u>	\$0	\$1,500 <u>\$1675</u>	\$0	\$1,500 <u>\$1675</u>	\$0	\$1,500 <u>\$1675</u>	\$0	\$1,500 <u>\$1675</u>
EE & Spouse	\$0	\$1,500 <u>\$1675</u>	\$0	\$1,500 <u>\$1675</u>	\$0	\$1,500 <u>\$1675</u>	\$0	\$1,500 <u>\$1675</u>	\$0	\$1,500 <u>\$1675</u>
EE & Children	\$0	\$1,500 \$1675	\$0	\$1,500 \$1675	\$0	\$1,500 \$1675	\$0	\$1,500 \$1675	\$0	\$1,500 \$1675
EE &Family	\$0	\$1,500 \$1675	\$0	\$1,500 \$1675	\$0	\$1,500 \$1675	\$0	\$1,500 \$1675	\$0	\$ <mark>1,500</mark> \$1675

- A. The above years are plan (currently calendar) years. The first year plan for 2020 begins in April and ends in December. Payments made by covered members (employees, plus any dependent(s)) that have accumulated toward the deductible and out-of-pocket maximums will credit toward the first year of the new health plan ending December 31, 2020. Subsequent years 2021, 2022, 2023, 2024, and any evergreen period will be in calendar years (January through December). Employee monthly contributions (under the Value plan) will increase by 10% over the prior year's contribution every year during the life of the agreement (including during evergreen). Out-of-network claims will be capped at the in network allowable amounts under both the Value and CDHP plans.
- B. Health Savings Account Contributions for CDHP will continue during evergreen.

Section 6. Fire Health Benefits Working Group

The City and the Association agree to <u>establish a continue the</u> health benefits working group. The group will consist of three members from the City and three members from the Union. Healthcare consultants from both parties are welcome to participate.

The City will schedule quarterly meetings and, in consultation with the Union, the parties shall develop agendas for the working group which will have the following responsibilities:

- a. Discuss any changes required by the IRS.
- Review the Fire plan's usage and cost trends on a quarterly basis and other relevant documents which have not excluded as proprietary or by reason of HIPAA.
- b.c. Invite the TPA/PBM to present macro developments in healthcare annually.
- e.d. Facilitate Association participation in future Requests for Proposals for vendors for healthcare products and services.
- d.e. Review healthcare program options that could potentially be added to the plan during the contract period.

Section 7. Other Benefits.

- **A. Definitions.** The term "Trusts" as used in this Section shall refer to the San Antonio Police Officers and Firefighters Benefit Plan and Trust, which provides optical and dental services, and the San Antonio Police Officers and Firefighters Prepaid Legal Plan and Trust, which provides legal services to members of the San Antonio Police Department and the San Antonio Fire Department.
- **B.** Amounts. During the term of this Agreement, the City will pay a monthly amount for each employee as shown by the schedule below for dental, optical and prepaid legal benefits under the Trusts. Furthermore, neither the City nor the Union may change the amounts paid or allocated for the respective benefits as shown in the schedule during the term of this Agreement. However, the City's obligation to make payments into the prepaid legal fund ceases if, within 180 days of the Effective Date of this Agreement, the Board of the San Antonio Police Officers and Firefighters Prepaid Legal Plan and Trust fails or refuses to approve to include the following provisions in the following amendments to the Trust Plan Documents:

Benefits shall be equally accessible to spouses for all types of coverage enumerated in the Summary Plan Document and at the same coverages, if any, as provided to the participants, including but not limited to divorce proceedings and, for a period of three (3) years, to former spouses and participants in child custody and child support proceedings and contempt of court/enforcement of family court orders.

Provision of legal advice and representation for criminal-related matters benefit limited to use by dependents only.

Requirement to include, as part of its financial audit to be submitted to the City, information on expenditures, matters, and individuals provided benefits under the Legal Fund. The report shall provide the following information:

- The type of beneficiary receiving the service (ie, member, spouse, dependent);
- The type of legal representation provided (ie. Criminal, divorce);
- The status of the proceeding; and
- The cost of the services provided to date.

If the Board of the San Antonio Police Officers and Firefighters Prepaid Legal Plan and Trust does not approve fails to include the proceeding provisions the amendments to in the Trust Plan documents within the required 180 days, then the City will have no further obligation to contribute to the Prepaid Legal Fund. In that circumstance, the amounts in the schedule below for the PrepPaid Legal Plan shall be used for additional clothing allowance to the members.

	Optical/ Dental Plan	PrePaid Legal Plan
Employees with dependents	\$89.50	\$32.00
Employees without dependents	\$43.50	\$32.00

C. Audits. The Union shall ensure that the Trusts will conduct annual independent audits at no additional costs to the City. The Union shall further ensure that the Trusts shall provide a copy of each annual independent audited financial report to the City, through its Finance Director, within thirty (30) days of receipt of the audit by the respective Trust. If a copy of the independent audit is not provided to the City within 30 days of receipt by the Union then the City may suspend payment of the City's contribution until a copy of the audit is submitted to the City.

The City reserves the right, at its sole discretion, to conduct an audit of said benefit plans at the City's expense any time during the term of this Agreement. Should the City decide to conduct such an audit, the Union shall ensure that the Trusts make available to the City all requested documentation within a reasonable time.

D. Use of Benefits. With respect to the prepaid legal benefits, it is understood that no employee may use the benefits for the purpose, in whole or in part, of implementing and/or initiating legal action against the City, any of its agents, officers, and/or assigns.

Exclusive Trust. The Union shall ensure that all funds paid by the City pursuant to this section are used for the exclusive benefit of the employees and that said funds shall not be commingled with the funds of any other organization, entity, or Union, nor shall said funds be used for any other purpose other than that provided for herein.

E. Payment and Change in Plans. During the term of this Agreement, the Union may change providers for Supplemental Benefits (Dental/Optical and Legal). In the event that

the Union makes a proposal to change benefit providers, the Union shall submit the same in writing to the City.

- **F.** Copies of Trust Plan. The Union will provide to each employee a summary of each Trust plan and will provide up-to-date copies of the Trust Plan Documents to the Human Resources Department and the Union Office.
- **G. Determination letter.** It shall be the sole responsibility of the Association to maintain the tax-exempt status of the benefit received under this Section. In accordance therewith, the Association shall provide to the City, through its Director of Finance, a copy of the Internal Revenue Service Determination Letter regarding the tax-exempt status of the benefit received under this Section. That Letter shall be received by the City no later than ten (10) days from commencement of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 26

RETIREE HEALTH BENEFITS

House Bill 2751, enacted by the Texas Legislature effective October 1, 2007, removed retiree health benefits from the collective bargaining process. Retiree health benefits are now governed exclusively by the provisions of Vernon's Texas Civil Statutes, Article 6243(q), a copy of which, in its current form, is attached hereto as Attachment III. The provisions governing retiree health benefits contained in the Collective Bargaining Agreement in effect at the time House Bill 2751 was enacted are attached hereto as Attachment III.

Should Article 6243(q) be repealed, without any substitute legislation under Texas law, the legislation in effect at the time of repeal will be subsumed into the current Collective Bargaining Agreement, and will be subject to negotiation at a reopener, or the next scheduled contract negotiations, by mutual agreement of the parties.

ARTICLE 27.

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 1.

Should a Fire Fighter be ordered to another station after reporting to her/his assigned or temporary assigned duty station, mileage will be paid to the next station after reporting to her/his assigned or temporary assigned duty station. Mileage will be paid to the next station at the existing City rate per mile, or a minimum of \$2.00, whichever is greater. In order to be reimbursed for mileage expenses, a Fire Fighter so affected must turn in to the Chief each quarter on October 1, January 1, April 1, and July 1, of each calendar year expense vouchers requesting reimbursement for mileage expenses during the preceding quarter, unless the Chief provides a policy for an alternate submission procedure. Failure of an employee to timely file

her/his voucher request shall result in the employee's waiver and relinquishment of any entitlement to said reimbursement of mileage expense.

Section 2.

Suspensions. Employees suspended up to a maximum of six (6) working days may, at the employee's discretion, forfeit either accumulated vacation time or holiday leave equal to the suspension. The employee shall have ten (10) calendar days from her/his receipt of notice of the suspension to decide whether or not s/he wishes to forfeit accumulated leave or exercise her/his appeal rights pursuant to Local Government Code Chapter 143. The provisions of this Article shall apply solely to suspensions which are agreed to by the employee, and no appeal to the Commission or to arbitration may be instituted on suspensions where the employee has forfeited accumulated vacation or holiday leave.

Section 3.

Except when workload dictates or in the case of regular alarms or Departmental announcements, all stations shall be on selective call for twenty-four (24) hours per day.

Section 4.

The City shall make a copy of this Agreement available at each station and a copy provided to each Fire Fighter.

Section 5.

The Chief shall have the authority at any time to require a Fire Fighter to submit to psychological evaluation or treatment and/or medical evaluation, at the City's expense, to be performed by a qualified psychologist, psychiatrist, counselor, therapist, or medical doctor chosen by the City. It is understood and agreed that should an employee refuse to submit to a psychological and or medical examination, or refuse to provide the results of such examination, such refusal shall constitute a refusal to obey a command, for which discipline may be imposed. To the extent allowed by law, the City will indemnify the Union from liability in connection with any disciplinary matters arising under this section.

Section 6.

Effective with the execution of this Agreement, the Chief shall have the right to assign (which assignment shall not be unreasonably withheld), a Fire Fighter to light duty not to exceed one (1) calendar year from the date of the assignment based on the recommendation of a qualified physician. The Chief, in her/his sole discretion, may extend the duration of an employee's light-duty assignment.

Section 7.

After an employee has two (2) uses of emergency leave in a calendar year, for each subsequent use of emergency leave, the Fire Chief shall have the right to deny eligibility for the next voluntary overtime opportunity which would otherwise have been made available to the employee.

Section 8.

In the event of a Fire Fighter death which occurred in the line of duty, the City shall pay \$5,000 over and above the City's life insurance/accidental insurance benefit to the beneficiary to assist with funeral and/or related costs. The City shall issue payment directly to the beneficiary listed on the employee's life insurance within ten (10) working days of receipt of the proper request for said payment.

Section 9.

Employees separating from the Department shall have their pay for accrued vacation leave calculated at base pay plus longevity.

Section 10. Family Leave Provision

All Fire Fighters are eligible to receive up to 168 continuous working hours of Family Leave at 100% of their compensation after the birth or initial placement of a child in connection with adoption or fostering. The leave must be used within the 12 calendar months following the birth or placement of a child.

A. Eligibility:

- 1. Fire Fighter(s) must be listed on the birth certificate or adoption/foster paperwork as the parent or foster parent.
- 2. In adoption or foster cases, child must be aged 17 or younger at time of initial placement.
- 3. Birth or initial placement of a child must take place while the Fire Fighter is a sworn Fire Fighter employed with the City.
- 4. Fire Fighter requesting Family Leave must apply for FMLA as outlined in AD 4.20, Family and Medical Leave Act.

B. Amount, Time Frame and Duration

- 1. A maximum of 168 continuous working hours of leave may be taken once within a rolling 12-month calendar year after the birth of a child or initial placement of a child.
- 2. A Fire Fighter may elect to use Family Leave prior to, subsequent to or in lieu of any accrued leave.

- 3. Paid holidays taking place while a Fire Fighter is out on Family Leave do not extend the period; however, the employee will continue to accrue Vacation and Sick Leaves.
- 4. Family Leave runs concurrently with any FMLA leave entitlement available to the Fire Fighter.
 - a. Requests, which include the dates that the Fire Fighter wishes to use Family Leave, must be received by the SAFD Payroll Manager at least 30 days prior to the date the Fire Fighter expects the birth or new placement of a child (or as soon as possible if the event was not foreseeable).
 - b. The City's Human Resources Director, or designee, whose decision is final, has the right to interpret and deny (or terminate) all Family Leave requests. Leave requests shall not be unreasonably denied.

ARTICLE 28.

EMPLOYEE FITNESS

Section 1. Purpose.

The purpose of the physical fitness plan is to ensure that employees of the Department are physically capable of meeting all of the physical demands inherent in the job. It is the intent of the parties that the elements of the plan be directed to establishing such job-related physical fitness. The City and the Union recognize that each employee of the Department has individual physical characteristics which must be taken into account in assessing and applying the requirements of the plan.

Section 2. Fitness Requirements for New Employees.

- A. Effective with the first class to enter the Fire Academy after the approval of the 2020 Agreement, all new employees must agree to maintain a standard of fitness throughout their careers with the San Antonio Fire Department.
- B. The City and the Union will meet and come to an agreement on the standard of fitness to be maintained and the regulations, policies, penalties, medical considerations, etc. which will be necessary to implement this section.

Section 3. Fitness Program for Existing Employees.

Physical Fitness. The City and the Association are committed to a healthy, physically fit and well-trained fire department. In demonstrating this commitment, employees who participate and meet standards as set out in this section shall be awarded the fitness incentives outlined herein.

During October of each year, the Chief and the President of the Association shall appoint three (3) members each (six total) to a physical fitness panel. It will be the sole responsibility of this panel to set point values, time limits, and the necessary requirements for the fitness program and for achieving incentives. The Chief and Association shall provide written notice of their appointees to the physical fitness panel at least thirty (30) calendar days before the panel is scheduled to meet. The panel shall reach an agreement on all items relating to point values, time limits, or necessary requirements, and all recommendations shall be forwarded to the Chief. The Chief can veto any recommendation and return the recommendation to the panel for reexamination. The Training Academy Chief shall act as the non-voting moderator and will be responsible to ensure the panel meets at the required stated time.

The fitness program for existing employees is aimed at promoting physical fitness among all employees of the Department. The fitness program shall be based on the International Association of Fire Fighters/International Association of Fire Chiefs' "The Fire Service Joint Labor Management Wellness-Fitness Initiative" 4th Edition or most currently available edition. The five (5) areas to be tested per the Wellness-Fitness Initiative will be: Body Composition, Aerobic Capacity and Recovery, Mobility and Flexibility, Speed and Power, and Strength and Endurance. Any discipline which may be issued for non-compliance with the physical fitness program or plan must be corrective in nature and must take into account the individual characteristics of the employee involved.

The City agrees to promote compliance with the plan through education, incentives, interdepartmental counseling and other positive approaches. The program will include annual physical fitness assessments with incentives ranging from \$125 to \$500 in contributions by the City to the employee's Flexible Savings Account (FSA) or Health Savings Account (HSA) for meeting certain levels of physical fitness.

Section 4. Wellness Program.

In the spirit of improving the quality of life of all uniform employees, the City and the Union have met and have come to an agreement in principle on a mandatory wellness program for all employees, which is not punitive in nature, but is instead aimed at promoting the overall health and well-being among all employees of the Department. The City and the Union further agree that the parties shall approve a wellness program, and once approved, any substantive changes to the program can only be made by mutual agreement of the parties.

Section 5.

Nothing in this Article or Agreement shall require the City or the Union to violate the statutory provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act.

ARTICLE 29.

DRUGS AND ALCOHOL

Section 1. General.

- A. It is agreed that efficiency and safety in the work place is necessary and required in order to carry out the mission of the Fire Department. Both parties support the proper and responsible implementation of this Article in the interests of public safety and the safety of Fire Fighters.
- B. Therefore, it is understood that the use of alcohol, drugs, or other controlled substances by members of the bargaining unit without proper prescription or other authorization while on duty or in the work place is detrimental to the operation of the Department and is clearly prohibited by this Agreement and the rules and regulations of the Fire Department. The use of illegal drugs is strictly prohibited.
- C. The City agrees to form an employee assistance drug committee with the Association. The Fire Chief and the Association President shall designate two (2) individuals to serve on the committee; the committee shall assemble and prepare materials to inform Fire Fighters of the issues and dangers of substance abuse to the Fire Fighters, the colleagues in the department, the public, and their families. The materials shall include an inventory and presentation of available community and City resources for dealing with emotional issues, depression, family conflict, domestic violence, alcohol abuse, substance abuse, and other mental and medical issues which are a part of the substance abuse paradigm. The committee will make materials and presentations available to all Fire Fighters.
- D. The City and the Union agree that Fire Fighters may be called upon in hazardous situations without warning, and that it is imperative to the interest of the Fire Fighters and the public to ensure that no Fire Fighter is substance impaired. In order to further their joint interest in protecting Fire Fighters and the public, the City and the Union agree to mandatory random drug testing as described in this section.

Section 2. Post Accident Testing.

- A. The parties agree to require post accident mandatory alcohol and drug testing under the testing guidelines set forth in this Article of any Fire Fighter involved in a vehicular accident in a City vehicle where the following conditions exist:
 - 1. The Fire Fighter was operating the City vehicle at the time of the collision; and
 - 2. The accident results in a death, serious injury to any person requiring medical treatment, or significant property damage.
- B. The City agrees to conduct post accident drug and alcohol testing of any Fire Fighter involved in a vehicular accident in a City vehicle that voluntarily requests testing, regardless of whether the above conditions are met.
- C. A positive drug or alcohol test under this Section shall not constitute conclusive proof of impairment or use, but shall create a rebuttable presumption subject to challenge through the grievance procedure. The presumption may be rebutted by competent evidence, in

which case the determination of impairment or use shall be based upon the weight of the evidence, as determined by the arbitrator. Absent contrary evidence, the positive drug or alcohol test shall be sufficient to prove use or impairment.

Section 3. Reasonable Suspicion Testing.

- A. The Union acknowledges and recognizes the right of the City to investigate possible alcohol or drug abuse by bargaining unit members which impairs job performance and to require employees to submit to various specified, approved and recognized medical procedures, provided reasonable suspicion exists, in accordance with proper procedure and applicable law, as well as the terms of this Agreement. In this regard, it is understood that the City shall adequately train its supervisory personnel who have authority to investigate the reasonable suspicion standard in detecting symptoms and effects of alcohol and/or controlled substance abuse. Reasonable suspicion is defined as the actions, appearance or conduct of an employee which are indicative of or consistent with the use and/or presence in the employee's body of a controlled substance or alcohol. Reasonable suspicion is based on specific, contemporaneous, articulable observations concerning the appearance, behavior, speech or body odors of the employee. This Article in no way establishes or permits testing in violation of a right provided by this Agreement.
- B. Whenever there are discrepancies in records regarding controlled substances that require the Fire Department to file a report with the Drug Enforcement Administration, the responsible crew will be required to submit to drug testing.
- C. In addition to reasonable suspicion testing as provided for above, the parties acknowledge the right of the City to require employees who receive special assignments to be tested. As used herein, special assignments shall include assignments to Haz-Mat, Paramedic, and/or Arson units where the assignment requires (1) the carrying of a firearm; (2) contact with or access to extremely dangerous materials; and (3) the administration of controlled substances. Testing must be approved pursuant to recognized medical procedures in accordance with applicable clinical protocols as well as the terms of this Agreement. Employees applying for such positions must be informed at the outset that such testing will be required prior to promotion/assignment to the position sought. In no event will employees be tested under this subsection as a result of involuntary assignment to an affected position, unless said assignment is the result of a promotion. Employees subject to tests under this subsection shall take the test, and the City must administer the same, in a manner which assures the employee's privacy to the greatest extent possible consistent with the City's need to preserve the integrity of the test procedures and results.

Section 4. Random Testing.

A. One Hundred percent (100%) of Fire Fighters of all ranks, including the Chief, shall be susceptible to mandatory testing for illegal drugs and controlled substances, during each calendar year on a fair and impartial statistical basis at the City's expense. The fair and impartial statistical basis (in which each employee has an equal chance of being selected

during a calendar year) shall be by a non-discriminatory computerized program operated and certified as non-discriminatory by an independent firm hired by the City, and the employee shall be tested upon being selected by the computer. The computer program shall be designed to ensure that every employee is eligible to be randomly selected; however, no employee may be tested more than four times in any twelve (12) month period. The City will provide a quarterly report indicating the number of bargaining unit employees tested along with whether any tests were second, third or fourth tests for the 12-month period. The reporting will begin in January of 2021 for the preceding quarter.

- B. Upon notice of selection for random testing, any employee shall provide a urine sample in accordance with the policy or protocol established by the testing laboratory. Failure to provide a sample may be considered insubordination, and may be the basis for suspension or indefinite suspension. The Medical Review Officer (MRO) shall be contacted for instructions in the event of a claimed inability to provide a sample.
- C. The City and the Union have a mutual interest in ensuring that drug impaired Fire Fighters do not perform Fire Department duties. The City and the Union agree that the purpose of the mandatory drug testing policy is not to punish an employee who has not violated the Fire Department's rules, regulations, policies or procedures. The City and the Union are committed to the principle that the mandatory drug testing policy for Fire Fighters is designed and shall be administered to result in disciplinary action only against those Fire Fighters who have violated the Fire Department's rules, regulations, policies and procedures.
- D. The City will utilize a U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) approved laboratory in performing urinalysis for drug detection. The laboratory will provide chain-of-custody procedures and documentation necessary to meet federal standards. Specimen collection and chain of custody procedures will ensure that specimen security, proper identification, and integrity are not compromised. A MRO will provide oversight to trained personnel on the collection and testing of urine samples. The Medical Review Officer shall be a qualified physician designated by the City.
- E. The employee will provide a urine specimen in a location that affords privacy. The collector will seal and label the specimen, initiate a chain of custody document, and prepare the specimen and accompanying paperwork for shipment to the drug testing laboratory. Each urine specimen will be subdivided into two bottles labeled as "primary" and "split" specimens. Both bottles will be sent to a laboratory where only the primary specimen confirms the presence of illegal, controlled substances, the employee will have seventy two (72) hours from the time they are notified by the MRO concerning positive test result to request the split specimen be sent to another DHHS-certified laboratory for a second opinion analysis. If either analysis is below the positive threshold levels, this shall constitute a negative result and the employee shall not be subject to further random testing for at least twelve (12) months. Both the primary and the split specimen shall be maintained for one year to be available in the event of legal or contractual disputes or further questions. In addition, employees may at their own expense request to have

another urine specimen administered at a physician's office of the employee's choice and accompanied by the testing personnel provided such testing is administered within four (4) hours of the initial notification for testing. Results of any such test taken at the employee's expense shall be provided to the City only if the employee chooses to release the results to the City.

F. Sample testing procedures shall conform to scientifically accepted analytical methods and procedures and shall include confirmation of positive test results by gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS). Before the results of a drug test may be used as a basis for any action, an MRO will be employed to determine if the test result is positive due to illicit drugs, or prescribed or over-the-counter drugs or food substances. In the event the MRO determines laboratory analysis found the specimen to be positive, but circumstances leading to the test result were other than illicit drug use, the test will be reported as negative to the City.

Section 5. Threshold Levels Revealed by Testing.

The parties have agreed that the following levels shall be determinative in any drug testing administered under this Article.

- The drugs that will always be screened and the initial and confirmatory test cutoff levels A. to be used include all that are listed in the Mandatory Guidelines for Federal Workplace Drug Testing Programs established by the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) and published in the Federal Register. In January of each calendar year, additional drugs will be included or removed from the drug testing panel as drugs are authorized or deauthorized for use by fire department employees in the course and scope of their duties and for which testing protocols exist. Cut-off levels for any additional drugs will be established by the DHHS-certified testing laboratory. Initially, the additional drugs used in the fire department which will be included for testing are Diazepam and Midazolam (both Benzodiazepines), Ketamine, Fentanyl, and Buprenorphine. Benzodiazepines Diazepam hasve an initial cut-off of 300 ng/ml and a confirmatory cut-off of 200 ng/ml. Midazolam has an initial cut-off of 200 ng/ml and a confirmatory cut-off of 100 ng/ml. Ketamine has an initial and confirmatory cutoff level of 100 ng/ml_limit of detection. Fentanyl has an initial cut-off of 500-2ng/ml and a confirmatory cut-off of 0.5300 ng/ml. Buprenorphine has an initial cut-off of 510 ng/ml and a confirmatory cut-off of 210 ng/ml. Should the thresholds change for Diazepam, Midazolam, Ketamine, Fentanyl, or Buprenorphine due to change in vendor or vendor's instrumentation, the Department will advise the Association.
- B. Concentrations of a drug at or higher than the above levels shall be considered a positive test result on the initial drug screening test.
 - 1. An initial positive test result will not be considered conclusive; rather, it will be classified as "confirmation pending."

- 2. A positive test result on the initial drug-screening test will automatically require a confirmation drug test be performed.
- C. Concentrations of a drug at or higher than the above levels shall be considered a positive test result on the confirmation drug screening test. A positive test result under this section shall not constitute conclusive proof of impairment or use, but shall create a rebuttable presumption subject to challenge through the grievance procedure. In the event that the employee appeals any disciplinary action to arbitration after a positive test result under this section, the losing party shall pay all costs of the proceeding. The employee is the "losing party" under this section if the arbitrator finds drug or alcohol impairment in violation of department policies, rules or regulations, irrespective of any modification or reduction in discipline.

D. Alcohol testing procedure shall be as follows:

- 1. Alcohol testing shall be conducted by a Breath Alcohol Technician (BAT) using an Evidential Breath Testing Device (EBT). The employee will provide a breath sample. If the employee's alcohol concentration is greater than or equal to .04, a second confirmation test will be performed in accordance with established EBT protocol.
- 2. An employee's failure or refusal to provide a breath sample will result in a determination that the employee's alcohol concentration is greater than or equal to .04.
- 3. Confirmation that an employee's alcohol concentration is greater than or equal to .04 shall result in the implementation of those steps set forth under Section 8(B)(1) of this Article (not applicable to post accident testing under Section 2 above).
- 4. A positive test result under this Section shall not constitute conclusive proof of impairment or use, but shall create a rebuttable presumption subject to challenge through the grievance procedure.
- 5. Concentrations less than the thresholds listed herein, or initial positives not confirmed by the confirmatory testing shall be disregarded by the City, and may not be referred to or used at any time for any employment or disciplinary purpose whatsoever by the City.

Section 6. General.

A. The thresholds listed above shall apply to all testing under this Article. Employees will complete a pre-testing consent form each time a test is conducted as part of a testing procedure under this Article. Failure to do so may be insubordination, and just cause for discipline. This is in addition to any signed acknowledgement forms which may have been obtained at the time of employment or any other occasion.

- B. In all drug testing under this Article, only conclusive results are to be reported to the City. A positive urinalysis test will be confirmed by a GC/MS test and reviewed by a Medical Review Officer before considered conclusive. Both tests must be positive or the results are considered inconclusive, thereby causing a negative test result to be reported to the City.
- C. In all drug testing under this Article, individuals with positive test results for drugs, other than marijuana metabolites a/k/a Tetrahydrocannabinolic Acid (THCA), will be notified by the MRO (or a para-professional acting as the MRO's designeehis delegate) in person or by telephone. An interview will be conducted to determine if there is an alternative medical explanation of the drugs found in the employee's urine specimen. The employee is entitled to request and receive an in-person interview with the MRO prior to release of a positive result. If the employee provides appropriate documentation and the MRO is satisfied with the explanation, the drug test result is to be reported as negative to the City.
- D. Concentrations less than the thresholds listed herein, or initial positives not confirmed by the confirmatory testing shall be disregarded by the City, and may not be referred to or used at any time for any employment or disciplinary purpose whatsoever by the City.
- D.E. A positive test for THCA that is consistent with a validly issued THCA prescription will not be considered a positive test by the City; however, the City maintains the right to determine fitness for duty.
- E.F. Once the employee has been notified of a drug test under any provision of this Article, an employee does not have any right to self report use or impairment under this Article, and thereby escape the consequences of violating the Department's rules and regulations, except as provided in this Article; however, it shall be within the Chief's discretion to permit self reporting and to withhold or suspend discipline based upon all relevant facts and circumstances.

Section 7. Confidentiality.

All records pertaining to the department required drug and/or alcohol tests shall remain confidential to the extent allowed by law, unless offered in evidence in a disciplinary appeal. Drug test results and records shall be stored in a locked file under the control of the Chief or his designee. The Chief will maintain original copies submitted by the laboratory. No access to these files shall be allowed without written approval of the Chief.

Section 8. Rehabilitation Treatment and Discipline for Substance Abuse.

- A. The parties have these joint objectives in this Article of the Agreement:
 - 1. To preserve the Chief's right to discipline or terminate an employee for on-duty use or impairment in violation of Fire Department Rules and Regulations;

- 2. To create disincentives for the use and abuse of substances; and
- 3. To provide a means, together with incentives, to seek and obtain treatment and rehabilitation for any employee who is involved in substance abuse.
- B. A positive drug and/or alcohol result under this Article resulting from random testing or reasonable suspicion testing shall have the following consequences:
 - 1. 1st positive result: The employee shall be suspended from the Fire Department for a period of time not to exceed thirty (30) days. The employee shall further be required to seek evaluation, education or treatment to establish control over the employee's drug or alcohol problem. Specifically, the employee must successfully complete an appropriate rehabilitation program as determined by a drug and/or alcohol abuse evaluation expert. The employee may utilize sick leave, vacation or unpaid administrative leave as necessary to complete the rehabilitation program. Verification of the employee's successful completion of the program must be provided to the City by the rehabilitation facility no later than six (6) months from the date of the initial positive result and constitutes a condition precedent to the employee's return to work. Prior to returning to duty the employee shall undergo a return to duty test with a result indicating an alcohol concentration of less than 0.04 and/or controlled substance test with a verified negative result. In addition, the City may continue to monitor any employee under this provision by conducting unannounced follow-up testing not to exceed twenty four (24) months following the employee's return to work. An employee's failure to meet the requirements to return to duty herein shall automatically place the employee under Section 8(B)(3) below.
 - 2. The preceding paragraph does not apply to an employee with a positive test result as a result of post accident testing, and the employee shall be subject to discipline up to and including termination depending on the level of impairment and overall circumstances of the incident or episode involved.
 - 3. 2nd positive result: The employee is subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination.
 - 4. Following the employee's return to work as provided for under Section 8(B)(1), the employee may self-report any relapse into drug or alcohol use to the employee's immediate supervisor who shall immediately take steps necessary to remove the employee from regular duty. Any reported relapse will require the employee to complete another rehabilitation program (under the terms and conditions set forth in Section 8(B)(1) prior to returning to duty. No disciplinary action shall be taken against any employee that self-reports any relapse into drug or alcohol use so long as the self-reporting occurs prior to the employee completing any follow-up testing as provided for under section 8(B)(1).

- 5. An employee may not unreasonably circumvent the follow-up testing requirements set forth in Section 8(B)(1). To that end, an employee that has been informed of a required follow-up test may not self-report any relapse into drug or alcohol use and thus avoid the follow-up test and the potential disciplinary action associated with a second positive result on more than one (1) occasion.
- C. Any employee who voluntarily seeks rehabilitation and treatment shall be entitled to the same leave and benefits that are otherwise applicable under leave policies and the existing coverage definitions in the Master Contract for Health Benefits, provided, however, that the Chief's right to discipline or terminate for on-duty use or impairment shall not be affected by this provision. An employee entitled to rehabilitation and treatment is not exempted from disciplinary action for violation of any other rules and regulations of the department (e.g. off duty DWI, regulations concerning leave, etc.).
- D. The City shall implement a drug and alcohol abuse education program. As part of that program, information will be provided on the availability of any EAP services under City programs or other outside service providers. The City will provide employees with literature and audio-visual materials and a copy of the drug and alcohol-free workplace policy as well as penalties for violating said policy.

Section 9. Union Representation of Members.

While it is understood that the Union is unequivocally opposed to the use of alcohol or drugs in the work place as well as the abuse of such substances under any condition and further agrees to cooperate toward the prevention of such abuse and strongly supports the prohibition of the use of drugs or alcohol in the work place and the proper enforcement of the Department's rules and regulations, the Union, retains the right to fairly and properly represent any aggrieved member of the bargaining unit by reason of the application of this Article, including but not limited to what the Union may consider as unwarranted or unreasonable investigations, search or the imposition of discipline.

ARTICLE 30.

GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

Section 1. Scope of Procedure.

The purpose of this Article is to provide a just, equitable, and expeditious method for resolving disputes between the City and the Union (or employees) concerning all aspects of the employment relationship between the City and bargaining unit employees, and concerning the bargaining relationship between the City and the Union. To that end, the parties hereby agree and stipulate as follows:

A. All disputes concerning the interpretation and/or application of the terms of this Agreement shall be submitted, if at all, to the grievance/arbitration procedure as called for

herein. Failure to initially pursue grievance/arbitration in these instances shall be the basis for a plea in abatement in response to any suit or claim filed with a court of law and/or administrative agency.

- B. Employee claims of violation of statutory or constitutional rights may be submitted to the grievance/arbitration procedure or may be pursued by means of judicial and/or administrative appeal; provided that once the employee has elected to file a lawsuit and/or administrative claim, all issues raised by the dispute or claim will be resolved in such lawsuit and/or administrative process, and no grievance may be filed concerning the same subject matter. It is recognized that claims falling under this subparagraph may be included with related claims of contract violations. In such circumstances, the City shall not be entitled to abatement of a suit involving the contract claims, related to the statutory or constitutional claims asserted, for failure to grieve such contract matters initially. If the employee elects to use the grievance/arbitration procedure to raise statutory or constitutional claims, such matters may not thereafter be appealed to court except as provided by this Article.
- C. Claims alleging violation of Article 11, Section 1, or state or federal laws prohibiting employment discrimination including discrimination for having initiated or filed a claim for workers' compensation benefits, as prohibited by Texas Labor Code Section 451.001, shall not be subject to the grievance/arbitration procedure.
- D. Disciplinary matters subject to the appeals procedure provided by Texas Local Government Code Chapter 143 shall not be subject to the grievance/arbitration procedure; provided that such matters, at the employee's election, will be subject to the Civil Service Commission or grievance/arbitration procedure under a just-cause standard, if Texas Local Government Code Section 143.057 is repealed or amended to eliminate the optional appeal of disciplinary matters to a Hearing Examiner. If the provisions of Chapter 143 are not repealed, and should the employee elect to proceed to the optional appeal of disciplinary matters to a Hearing Examiner, the examiner shall be selected as called for in Section 5 (A) hereof. The powers, duties, and/or obligations of said arbitrator/hearing examiner shall likewise be as provided for in this Agreement and applicable provisions of the Texas Local Government Code, Chapter 143.

Section 2. Time Limits.

The parties shall act diligently and exercise good faith to adhere to the time limits set forth in this Article, unless such time limits are waived or extended by mutual agreement. In the event the employee or Union fails to meet the time limit at any step of the grievance procedure, the grievance shall be considered satisfied and no further action need be taken; provided, that where the grievance concerns a matter within the jurisdiction of the courts, the employee may file suit if the grievance is rejected due to failure to comply with a time limit set forth in this Article. Failure by the City to meet the time limits at any step shall be considered a denial of the grievance which will allow the Union or employee, at their option, to proceed to the next step. Time limits begin to run on the date of a party's actual receipt of an appeal or response.

When either party provides an appeal or response by mail, its timeliness shall be judged by the postmark on the envelope. When either party provides an appeal or response by facsimile transmission or via email, its timeliness shall be judged by the date printed by the facsimile transmission device or email. For any delivery of an appeal or response that is not hand delivered the parties are required to provide written confirmation to the other party. Where a deadline falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday, the deadline will be extended to the next day which is not a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday.

Section 3. Relief through the Chain of Command.

The Union or any employee covered by this Agreement having a matter which is felt to be a grievance shall make a reasonable effort to resolve the matter through the appropriate chain of command via telephone, email or face to face meetings.

In the event the matter is not resolved through the Chain of Command, the employee may submit a grievance to the Union Grievance Committee.

Section 4. Steps of Grievance Procedure.

A. Initial Filing and Grievance Committee Review

- 1. In order to be considered, a grievance raising contractual issues must be submitted to the union grievance committee within thirty (30) calendar days of the grievant's actual or constructive knowledge of the event. A grievance raising non-contractual issues must be submitted with the union grievance committee within one hundred eighty (180) calendar days of the grievant's actual or constructive knowledge of the event.
- 2. The Union or any employee covered by this Agreement having a matter which is felt to be a grievance shall submit the grievance in writing to the Union Grievance Committee. The grievance shall be submitted on a form to be provided by the City and must include (a) a brief statement of the grievance and the facts on which it is based; (b) the section of the Collective Bargaining Agreement which has been violated; (c) the remedy or adjustment, if any, sought; (d) the employee's signature; and (e) where "maintenance of standards" is a basis for the grievance, the specific standard(s) alluded to must be identified. As used herein, "maintenance of standards" includes all statutory or other non-contract provisions incorporated herein through the Maintenance of Standards Clause found at Article 9.
- 3. Within three (3) business days after receipt of a grievance, the Union Grievance Committee shall provide a courtesy copy of the grievance to the Fire Chief. The copy may be delivered via hand delivery, facsimile transmission or email.
- 4. If the Union Grievance Committee decides in its sole discretion that no grievance is found to exist, no further action shall be required; provided, that if any employee

- grievance concerns matters appealable to court, e.g., statutory violations, the employee retains the option to file suit if her/his/her grievance is rejected.
- 5. The Union Grievance Committee shall review the grievance and if a grievance is found to exist for reasons stated by the employee or reasons known to the Committee, the Committee shall process the grievance by passing the grievance to the Fire Chief within fifteen (15) business days from receipt thereof.

B. Fire Chief's Response.

1. The Fire Chief or her/his designee shall respond to the grievance and shall render a decision to the Union Grievance Committee, in writing, within fifteen (15) business days from receipt thereof.

C. Appeal to City Manager.

- 1. If a grievance is not resolved the Union Grievance Committee shall submit the grievance, in writing, to the Director of Human Resources within fifteen (15) business days from receipt of the decision and a courtesy copy will be provided to the City Manager or her/his/her designee.
- 2. The City Manager or her/his/her designated representative shall review the matter and shall render a decision in writing to the Union Grievance Committee within fifteen (15) business days.

D. Submission to Arbitration.

- 1. If the grievance is not resolved the Union Grievance Committee shall have fifteen (15) business days from receipt of the City Manager's decision to submit the matter to arbitration.
- 2. Arbitration will be invoked by delivering a letter to the Director of Human Resources and a courtesy copy will be provided to the City Manager or her/his/her designee.

Section 5. Arbitrator Selection.

A. The Human Resources Director or her/his/her designee shall within five (5) business days from the date the grievance is submitted to arbitration, request a list of seven (7) qualified neutrals from the American Arbitration Association that are able to begin the hearing within one hundred twenty (120) calendar days. The representative for the grievant and the representative of the Fire Chief may mutually agree on one of the seven (7) qualified neutrals. If the representatives do not agree, the representatives shall alternatively strike the names on the list of seven (7) qualified neutrals within seven (7) calendar days after receipt of the list, and the remaining name shall be the arbitrator. The grievant's

representative shall strike the first name. All parties shall act to complete the selection process at the earliest possible date. The arbitrator shall be promptly notified of her/his selection. The parties will not have ex parte communication with the arbitrator. Communication with the arbitrator will be through the parties, counsel for the parties, or the parties representative, jointly.

- B. At a date previously agreed upon, the arbitrator shall convene the hearing at a place mutually convenient to all parties. The arbitrator shall hear and take evidence of all issues presented as raised by timely-filed grievances. The hearing shall continue from day to day until all such evidence has been received and all parties have "rested." Transcripts and post-hearing briefs may be utilized at the discretion of the Arbitrator. If a transcript is utilized, a transcript by a duly-authorized court reporter will be taken of the hearing and shall be the only official transcript thereof. Both parties to the proceeding shall be entitled to representation of their own choosing, the expense of which must be borne by the respective party.
- C. The arbitrator shall make a reasonable effort to issue her/his/her award within thirty (30) calendar days after the date the hearing ends or, if transcripts and/or post-hearing briefs are required, within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of the transcript or receipt of the parties' post-hearing briefs, whichever occurs later.

Section 6. Witnesses and Expenses.

- A. The following expenses shall be shared equally by the parties: arbitrator's fees and expenses and the cost of the hearing transcript. Each party will bear its own attorney's fees and costs; provided that:
 - 1. Should the arbitrator find that grievance upon which s/he rules is specious, s/he may in fact award the "prevailing party" (singularly) "reasonable attorney's fees" as defined in section 2 below.
 - 2. Should the matter proceed to court, the court shall have the discretionary authority to grant attorney's fees, including the costs of the arbitration proceedings (but not the grievance proceedings). A reasonable attorney's fee for the City shall be eighty five dollars (\$85.00) per hour, and for the employee, shall not exceed the actual rate agreed and charged, not to exceed one hundred dollars (\$100.00) per hour.
- B. The City shall compensate all witnesses called by either party at their straight-time rate; provided, however:
 - 1. The witness called is scheduled for duty when called to appear.
 - 2. The individual's identity and a brief statement as to the relevancy of her/his expected testimony has been provided the City five (5) days in advance of the hearing.

Any witness called by the Union and/or the grievant who has not been identified and/or who is not scheduled for duty shall be due no compensation or administrative leave from the City.

- C. Witnesses shall be scheduled by agreement between the parties so as not to unduly interrupt the mission of the Department. The arbitrator shall have the authority, based upon the summary statement of the witnesses, to determine whether or not the testimony of the witness is required or is merely duplicitous or cumulative, then the City shall have no obligation to pay for the witness' appearance.
- D. The grievant shall not be compensated for time spent at the hearing and/or in preparation thereof, nor shall s/he be entitled to administrative leave for any such time.

Section 7. Arbitrator's Authority—Contract Cases.

- A. This section applies to all issues involving the application or interpretation of this Agreement; provided, that where the sole issue of contract interpretation involves the Maintenance of Standards provision, and the underlying standard is a statute or constitutional provision, this section shall not apply.
- B. For issues subject to this section, the award of the arbitrator shall be final and binding upon the City, Union and employees. In making her/his award, the arbitrator shall be limited to interpreting and applying the provisions of this Agreement; s/he shall have no authority to add to, subtract from, or modify the terms of this Agreement as negotiated between the parties.
- C. The arbitrator shall have full power to take steps necessary to ensure a fair hearing for all concerned, which power shall include, but is not limited to: ordering a party to provide information in its possession or control which is reasonably necessary to the other party's prosecution of its case; ordering a party to make available to testify a person within its control; issuance of witness subpoenas; and taking reasonable steps to ensure that no undue delays in the proceedings occur, consistent with the right of all concerned to a full and fair hearing.
- D. The arbitrator shall have the authority to provide in her/his award for such relief as is necessary to make the prevailing party whole for all economic losses suffered as a result of a violation of the terms of this Agreement.

Section 8. Arbitrator's Authority—Non-Contract Cases.

A. In all cases which present issues, e.g., statutory claims which do not involve interpretation or application of the terms of this Agreement, the procedures specified in this section shall apply; provided, that where a case raises both contract and non-contract claims, the arbitrator's award as to contract claims shall be final and binding on the City, Union, and the employee.

- B. In cases subject to this section, the parties will be entitled to engage in discovery as provided in the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure, and the arbitrator is authorized to issue subpoenas, to resolve disputes concerning the appropriateness of a party's discovery requests, and to enter such other orders as may be necessary to effectuate the discovery process. As soon as practicable, after the arbitrator's appointment and agreement to serve, the arbitrator and the parties' representative shall hold a conference, by telephone or otherwise, to set a reasonable period for discovery and a hearing date. In no case shall the period for discovery exceed ninety (90) days, except by mutual agreement of the parties.
- C. The provision of Section 6(C) of this Article are equally applicable to Section 7 cases.
- D. For issues subject to this section, the award of the arbitrator (both as to facts and the law of the contract) shall be final and binding; provided, that either party may appeal such award to state district court pursuant to Texas Local Government Code Chapter 174 on the grounds that it is clearly contrary to the provisions of a statute or the Constitution (state or federal), or is not supported by substantial evidence as indicated in the record made before the arbitrator. Any such appeal must be filed within thirty (30) days of the date of arbitrator's award.
- E. The arbitrator shall have the authority to provide in her/his/her award for such relief as a court with jurisdiction over such matter would be entitled to award, including injunctive and equitable relief, compensatory and exemplary damages.

ARTICLE 31.

EXHAUSTION OF REMEDIES

Section 1. Exhaustion.

The City, the Union, and the Fire Fighters covered herein, shall be required to exhaust all available remedies through grievance and/or the Civil Service Commission prior to proceeding to a court of law, state or federal administrative agency, or other regulatory body, except as provided in Article 30, Grievance Procedure. Failure to do so will act as a plea in abatement to any such court, administrative body, and/or regulatory agency proceeding until the exhaustion of remedies provided for in this Agreement have been completed to finality.

Section 2.

If, at any time after a decision and/or award of the Civil Service Commission and/or an arbitrator, any affected party contests or challenges the decision or award in any other legal proceeding, the following shall apply:

A. The decision and award of the arbitrator and/or the Commission must be upheld, unless the contesting party can establish the award was not supported in whole or in part by

- substantial evidence and/or that the award of the arbitrator and/or the Commission was capricious.
- B. As a condition precedent to the filing of any subsequent action challenging the award of the arbitrator and/or the Commission, the affected party (as used here, "party" shall mean the Union and/or the City) must file a cost bond in the minimum amount of the sum of the arbitrator's fees and expenses and the fees of the court reporter who took the transcript of the arbitration proceeding.

Section 3.

Should any party be a part to any action by any other party contesting and/or challenging the award of the arbitrator and/or the Commission, the party may, pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, request the court or administrative body to which the action has been addressed to reimburse it/them for all costs of court, including but not limited to reasonable attorney's fees, for having to defend said action. This remedy shall be in addition to any other remedy to which the party may be entitled, including but not limited to those as specified above and/or elsewhere in this Agreement. Should either party, after having pursued grievance/arbitration or Civil Service Commission proceedings, sue in a court of law, then that court has the authority to grant as a portion of its award all costs including attorney's fees, including but not limited to the attorney's fees expended and/or generated as a result of the arbitration proceedings (but not the grievance proceedings). It is agreed that as used herein the term "reasonable attorney's fees", shall be in accordance with Article 30, Grievance Procedure, Section 6. Witnesses and Expenses (A)(2).

ARTICLE 32.

PROMOTIONS

Section 1. Definitions.

- A. Seniority For purposes of this Article, each Fire Fighter shall be given one (1) point added to only the passing score on any written promotional examination for each year as a classified Fire Fighter in the San Antonio Fire Department. In no event shall the number of such seniority points exceed ten (10). "Classified Fire Fighter" is meant to include service as a Fire Trainee and a Probationary Fire Fighter. Seniority is defined as all years of service, whether interrupted or uninterrupted, on the San Antonio Fire Department, and not merely the 1st continuous period of service. Accrual of seniority points shall begin with the first day of employment as a Fire Trainee in the Fire Academy.
- B. Eligibility.

- 1. Fire promotional examinations shall be open to all Fire Fighters who have held a classified position with the San Antonio Fire Department for minimum required continuous years, immediately below that rank for which the examination is to be held. (This period shall consist of time spent by the Fire Fighter in actual service with the Department. Any absences other than for scheduled Annual Vacation/Holidays, Line-of Duty (LOD)or for serving on active military duty, in excess of fourteen (14) consecutive days will cause the Fire Fighter to be required to remain in that position and rank for a period of time equal to the time of such absence. Time spent on leave for less than fourteen (14) days shall not apply. Example: A Fire Fighter is an Engineer as of 1/1/87. S/he is off work on Sick Leave for fifteen (15) days. S/he would be eligible for promotional examination to the position of Lieutenant as of1/16/89. Fire Fighters who receive a retroactive promotion will be entitled to use the retroactive promotion date for purposes of determining eligibility to take future promotional examinations.)
- 2. The two (2) year continuous period required for eligibility to take the promotional examination for the rank of Fire Engineer shall commence with the date the Fire Fighter entered the Fire Academy. If the employee was hired 6/30/07 the minimum continuous period required for eligibility shall be three (3) years from the date the employee entered the Fire Academy.
- 3. A Fire Fighter who has completed two (2) continuous years of service as Fire Engineer shall be eligible for promotion to the rank of Lieutenant. The two (2) year continuous period required for eligibility on promotion shall commence with the date s/he was promoted to Fire Engineer. If the employee was hired after 6/30/07the minimum continuous period required for eligibility shall be three (3) years from the date the employee was promoted to Fire Engineer Apparatus Operator.
- 4. A Fire Fighter who has completed two (2) continuous years service as a Fire Lieutenant shall be eligible for promotion to the rank of Captain. The two (2) year period required for eligibility on promotion shall commence with the date s/he was promoted to Fire Lieutenant.
- 5. A Fire Fighter who has completed two (2) continuous years service as a Fire Captain shall be eligible for promotion to the rank of District Chief. The two (2) year continuous period required for eligibility for promotion shall commence with the date s/he was promoted to Fire Captain.
- 6. Any Fire Fighter that would become eligible to take an exam during the month that the exam is given, shall be eligible to take the exam.
- 7. In the event the scheduling of a promotional examination is prior to the ninetieth (90th) day of the vacancy, any Fire Fighter that would become eligible for such exam if it was given on the ninetieth (90th) day would be allowed to take such exam. For the purposes of calculating the ninetieth (90th) day, day one (1) begins from the first day

of vacancy. Such Fire Fighter will also need to have met the criteria for eligibility for such exam as if it were given on the ninetieth (90th) day.

Date List Effective

8. Promotional examinations for the rank of Fire Engineer, Lieutenant and Captain shall be administered during the same month each year as illustrated by example below:

		Butte Elist Elitetii (
Lieutenant	February 20122025	First Day of March 20252012
Captain	March 20122025	First Day of April 20252012

Month Examination Given

Fire Engineer promotions examination will be administered as soon as possible after execution of this Agreement in compliance with the "unscheduled written examination" procedure set forth in Section 1.B.9.

Each eligibility list shall be valid for a period of one (1) year from the effective date listed above. For example, the Fire Captain eligibility list shall be effective from April 1, 2012 through March 31, 2013 at 11:59 p.m.

- 9. If a promotional eligibility list for a rank is exhausted more than ninety (90) days prior to the next scheduled promotional exam for that rank, the City may conduct an unscheduled promotional exam for that rank as follows:
 - A. The date of the unscheduled written examination and the list of source materials for the examination shall be posted in accordance with the provisions of Local Government Code Chapter 143.
 - B. The unscheduled exam will be conducted in accordance with the requirements of this Article.
 - C. The resulting Eligibility List will be created in accordance with the requirements of this Article, and will be effective for a period of one (1) year beginning on the first day of the month following the month the unscheduled written examination was given as illustrated under Section 1.B.8.
 - D. The date of the next scheduled exam will be administered during the same month which is one (1) year after the date of the unscheduled written examination.
- 10. In order to implement the above promotion examination schedule it is agreed that in the event that a vacancy occurs prior to implementation of the above schedules, the time limits under Chapter 143 to hold an exam and make the permanent appointment shall be superseded, subject to the right to back pay below. This does not include either the required ninety (90) day posting of study material prior to the promotional exam, or the thirty (30) day notice provision for posting notice of the exam. Persons promoted during the implementation of the new schedule above shall retain the right to back pay as provided under Chapter 143, so long as those persons would have been eligible to take the test within ninety (90) days of the vacancy. In the event a person

becomes eligible following the ninety (90) day period, that person will only be entitled to back pay back to the date of that person's eligibility.

11. In the case of a Force Majeure Occurrence which prevents the conduct of the promotional exam, the actual date of the exam may be rescheduled for up to sixty (60) days. Notice of the examination is sufficient if posted prior to the ninetieth (90th) day before the scheduled date of the examination notwithstanding the actual date if rescheduled. In the event of a rescheduling, no further notice of the examination is required other than the new time, place, and date of the rescheduled examination. This provision specifically preempts Chapter 143 of the Texas Local Government Code, including but not limited to sections 143.029 and 143.107.

A "Force Majeure Occurrence" shall mean an occurrence beyond the control and without the fault of the City. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, force majeure occurrences shall include: acts of nature (including fire, flood, earthquake, storm, hurricane, ice storm or other natural disaster), war, invasion, acts of foreign combatants, terrorists acts, military or other usurped political power or confiscation.

C. Seniority in Rank.

- 1. The employee with the most time in a classified rank shall be considered the senior in rank.
- 2. Where employees of classified ranks other than the rank of Fire Fighter have been promoted at the same time, seniority in rank shall be determined by the employee's placement on their respective eligibility list.
- 3. Where employees of the rank of Fire Fighter have the same amount of time in that classification, seniority in rank shall be determined by their badge number.

D. Return From Military Service.

Effective with the signing of this Agreement Fire Fighters who were serving on active military duty as members of the Armed Forces and who were eligible promotional candidates according to the rules as set out by USERRA when a Department promotional exam was offered, who did not take the exam, may apply to take the next available promotional exam given for the rank for which they are currently eligible. At the time of the registration for that exam, the firefighter must indicate in writing that they are requesting that their score be applied to the exam(s) missed. within thirty (30) calendar days after notice by the City of their rights and obligations under this subsection upon return to the Department from active duty, to take the promotional exam given for that rank. The consulting firm who constructs the promotional exam given for each applicable rank will as part of the exam create an "A" and "B" exam for each test. Each test will be similar in construction and material covered. Fire Fighters covered by this section will be offered the ability to take the "B" test on their return and after being given the same amount of study time as officer who took, the original "A" exam. If the Fire Fighter's score would have resulted in a promotion if it had been achieved on the exam(s) missed due to active military service, the Fire Fighter must be

promoted to the next available vacancy in that rank. Seniority in rank and retroactive back pay owed will be established as of the date the Fire Fighter would have been promoted based on the score made at the time, as if s/he had not been on active military service. This provision is intended to comply with requirements of the Federal Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployed Rights Act (USERRA), and to supersede the terms of Section 143.032(b) of the Texas Local Government Code. This Agreement does not prevent the City from taking steps to comply with USERRA under unique or special circumstances.

Section 2. Study Materials Committee.

This selection section applies to future selection of source materials and posting of notice beginning January 2012.

The Chief shall establish a separate committee for the selection of proposed study materials for each promotional examination by rank. This committee will be comprised of two (2) members appointed by the Chief and two (2) members appointed by the President of the Association and shall be facilitated by the SAFD Human Service Division. This Committee will consult with the test consulting company to assure support from the job analysis throughout the materials selection process. Each member of the Committee will sign a pledge of confidentiality, agreeing to not release any information pertaining to any study materials selected by the Committee to be forwarded to the Chief in order to maintain the security of the selection process. Members of the Committee shall rank the material collectively and forward their recommendations to the Chief. Study materials for all ranks shall not be the same for any two (2) consecutive years.

After reviewing the recommendations, the Chief shall consult with the test consulting company to assure support from the job analysis. After her/his consultation, the Chief shall make the final decision and forward her/his selections and/or changes to the consulting company hired by the City to create the test. The committee membership will be changed after each testing cycle. The committee members appointed by both the Chief and the President of the Association will hold the same rank or higher as the position being tested for.

A listing of all potential materials from which promotional examination questions may be taken shall be posted annually each January for examinations to be administered within the one (1) year period beginning the following April. Such material may not be used unless available at the time of the posting of the study materials list.

Section 3. Promotion to Fire Engineer, Lieutenant, and Captain.

- A. Vacancies in the ranks of Fire Engineer, Lieutenant, and Captain shall be filled by competitive written examination in accordance with Chapter 143 Local Government Code and the rules established by the Fire Fighter and Police Officer Civil Service Commission not inconsistent herewith; however, a passing score of seventy (70) shall be considered minimum for eligibility for promotion.
- B. The City shall engage an outside bonded consultant to prepare written promotional examinations for each rank.

- C. All eligible candidates for promotions to a particular rank shall be given the identical examinations applicable to that rank in the presence of each other. The examinations will consist of multiple choice written questions, which shall have predetermined correct answers to enhance the objectivity of the examination. In addition, the preparer must certify at least seventy five percent (75%) of the questions on each examination for each rank must be newly composed and never before seen on any previous examinations of any rank given by that preparer for the City of San Antonio.
- D. The preparer of the examination shall deliver the examination sealed and numbered to the Civil Service Director who is charged with the responsibility for the security of all promotional examinations. The examination shall remain sealed until opened in the presence of the participants.
- E. All questions formulated by the outside consultant (and their correct answers) shall be derived from the materials selected by the Chief as study materials in accordance with this Section.

Section 4. Promotion to District Chief.

Persons having held the rank of Captain for a period of two (2) continuous years shall be eligible for promotion to the rank of District Chief. In the event all those Captains fail the written portion of the promotion examination which follows, persons holding the rank of Lieutenant for a minimum of five (5) continuous years and all Captains regardless of time-in-rank may be eligible for examination for promotion to District Chief. The promotional examination for the rank of District Chief shall consist of two (2) parts as follows:

- A. Written Examination—Shall consist of questions relating to the duties of the classification of the position to be filled. All notice of written examinations and publishing of study material shall be in accordance with Chapter 143 Local Government Code and the rules established by the Fire Fighter and Police Officer Civil Service Commission. A score of seventy percent (70%) on the written examination shall be considered a passing score. In the event that written examination scores are the same, the ranking of those scores shall be done on the basis of rules established by the Fire and Police Civil Service Commission. All test participants with passing grades, up to a maximum of the top twenty (20), shall be allowed to continue on to the next phase of the examination process, the Assessment Center Board.
- B. Assessment Center Board—Shall consist of three members as follows:
 - 1. Two (2) persons from outside the San Antonio Fire Department who currently hold an administrative position in a Fire Department or fire-related agency in a City of 50,000 or more population or from a state or Federal agency. One such person shall be selected by the City; one shall be selected by the Union.
 - 2. One (1) person from outside the San Antonio Fire Department who has held an administrative position in the field of personnel management, city management, fire

- science, or a related field, for a minimum of five (5) years, to be selected by mutual agreement of the City and the Union.
- 3. The City and the Union shall agree on guidelines to be presented to the Assessment Center Board for use in their examination.
- 4. A minimum score of seventy percent (70%) on the composite factors evaluated by the Board shall be required to pass the Assessment Center Board.
- 5. Failure of an applicant to obtain a passing score on the Assessment Center shall disqualify the applicant from further consideration for one (1) year from the date the written examination was administered, unless the list is exhausted, in which event persons on the list shall be eligible for re-examination. The result of the Assessment Center shall not be appealable to the Civil Service Commission or to arbitration through the grievance procedure.
- C. Eligibility List—Within seventy-two (72) hours of the completion of the Assessment Center Process, excluding weekends and holidays, an eligibility list shall be prepared and posted with the respective ranking of all applicants based on the following weights:
 - 1. Written Exam Score 50%
 - 2. Assessment Center Score 50%

Total Score 100%

D. The District Chief eligibility list shall be valid for a period of one (1) year fifteen (15) months from the day after the date of the written examination unless exhausted, notwithstanding any pending disputes, appeals or litigation concerning an applicant's score or right to promotion. For example: the written exam is given on July 30, 2012 2025, the eligibility list shall be effective from July 31, 2012 2025 through October 31 July 30, 2013 2026 at 11:59 p.m.

Section 5. Preemption.

The provisions in this Article shall apply notwithstanding any contrary provisions in Chapter 143, which are expressly preempted.

Section 56. Promotional Probation.

For promotional ranks of Fire Engineer, Lieutenant, Captain, and District Chiefs there shall be a probationary period of six (6) months. During the promotional probationary period, an employee may be demoted by the Chief to the rank from which promoted, and the decision to demote shall not be subject to disciplinary appeal. Upon demotion while holding a probationary promotion, an employee shall resume the competitive rank from which appointed and the salary

shall be in accordance with said competitive rank, with service time credited as continuous time in that competitive rank and with all salary increases to which the employee would have been automatically entitled had the employee continuously remained in said competitive rank. If the probationary period is successfully completed, the probationary period shall count as time in grade in the new rank.

Section <u>67</u>. Chief's Review of Promotability.

Notwithstanding the provisions of this Agreement, the parties understand and agree that in considering a Fire Fighter for promotion the Chief shall have all rights and privileges as contained in Chapter 143 Local Government Code regarding promotability.

Section 78. Assessment Center Promotional Dispute Resolution Procedure.

- A. The purpose of this Section of this Article is to provide for the exclusive remedy available to Fire Fighters who question or challenge the Assessment Center process.
- B. Any Fire Fighter who disputes or challenges the Assessment Center process as contained in this Article as it applies to her/him shall file a grievance within ten (10) calendar days of the posting of the results of the examination process with the Director of Personnel of the City, which grievance must state in particular and with specifics the Fire Fighter's objection to said process and/or results. Copies of all grievances so filed shall be provided to the Union.
- C. Within fifteen (15) calendar days of the date of the posting of the results of the Assessment Center process, the City and the Union shall meet to review all such grievances timely filed and shall each designate a representative to act in their behalf. These two (2) representatives shall select and agree upon a third, mutually-satisfactory individual who shall act as an independent arbitrator. Failure of the parties' representatives to agree on this third "neutral" shall result in the parties selecting an arbitrator from the list of six seven (76) arbitrators previously agreed to in accordance with Section 45 of Article 30, Grievance Procedure. The arbitrator or "neutral" so selected shall be notified promptly of her/his appointment and, simultaneously therewith, the parties in agreement with the arbitrator or "neutral" shall select a date for a hearing of all the grievances so submitted, which date shall be within thirty (30) calendar days, except by mutual agreement of the parties.
- D. At the date previously agreed upon, the independent arbitrator or "neutral" shall convene the hearing at a place mutually convenient to all parties. The arbitrator or "neutral" so selected shall hear and take evidence on all of the grievances that were timely filed by Fire Fighters as previously described. The hearing shall continue from day to day until all such evidence has been received. A transcript by a duly authorized court reporter will be taken of the hearing and shall be the only official transcript thereof. All parties to the proceedings, including individual Fire Fighters, shall be entitled to representation of their own choosing, the expense of which must be borne by the respective party.

- E. The arbitrator or "neutral" so selected shall submit a written opinion on each grievance presented and/or heard by her/him without the benefit of the submission of briefs by the City, the Union, and/or the affected Fire Fighter. The decision of the arbitrator or "neutral" shall be brief and concise and shall recite:
 - 1. The name of the grievant;
 - 2. The issue presented;
 - 3. The decision and award of the arbitrator or neutral.

Unless otherwise mutually agreed by the Union and the City, the decision of the arbitrator or "neutral" shall be rendered within fifteen (15) calendar days of the date the hearing was closed. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on the City, the Union, and the affected Fire Fighter/grievant.

- F. The fees and expenses of the arbitrator or "neutral" and of the official court reporter shall be borne equally by the Union and the City.
- G. Should at any time after the decision and award of the arbitrator or "neutral" any affected Fire Fighter/grievant contest or challenge the award of the arbitrator in any other legal proceeding, the following shall apply:
 - 1. The decision and award of the arbitrator or "neutral" must be upheld, unless the Fire Fighter/grievant can establish by clear and convincing evidence said award was not supported in whole or in part by substantial evidence and/or that the award of the arbitrator or "neutral" was capricious.
 - 2. As a condition precedent to the filing of any subsequent action challenging the award of the arbitrator or "neutral", the affected Fire Fighter/grievant must file a cost bond in the minimum amount of the sum of the arbitrator's fees and expenses and the fees of the court reporter who took the transcript of the arbitration proceeding.
- H. Should the Union and/or the City be a party to any action by a Fire Fighter/grievant contesting and/or challenging the award of the arbitrator or "neutral", the City and/or the Union may, pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, request the court or administrative body to which the action has been addressed to reimburse it/them for all costs of court, including but not limited to attorneys fees, for having to defend said action. This remedy shall be in addition to any other remedy to which the City and/or the Union may be entitled, including but not limited to those as specified above and/or elsewhere in this Agreement.

Section 98. Appointment to Assistant Chief and Deputy Chief.

A. The Chief shall have the right to appoint six (6) Assistant Chiefs which rank immediately above the rank of District Chief and rank below the Deputy Chief in the chain of command. The Chief shall have the right to appoint two (2) three (3) Deputy Chiefs which rank

immediately above the rank of Assistant Chief and rank below the Chief in the chain of command. Effective October 1, 2011 the Chief shall have the right to appoint one (1) additional Deputy Chief for a total of three (3) Deputy Chiefs.

- B. No additional appointed positions shall be created other than by this Article.
- C. Hereinafter, no position in the rank of Assistant or Deputy Chief shall be filled other than by appointment. As vacancies occur in the rank of Assistant Chief, the Chief shall have the right to appoint to the position in accordance with this Section. Appointments to the rank of Assistant or Deputy Chief shall be by the Chief at her/his sole discretion, provided that the employee promoted is a classified, sworn member of the San Antonio Fire Department and occupies a rank of either Assistant Chief, or District Chief, or Captain.
- D. Persons appointed to the rank of Assistant Chief or Deputy Chief shall be subject to overall City policies and regulations and while appointed to this rank shall not be subject to the provisions of Chapter 143 Local Government Code or any of the provisions of this Agreement, unless specifically so provided in this Article.
- E. Any person appointed to the rank of Assistant Chief or Deputy Chief may be suspended or demoted to the rank from which s/he was promoted at the sole discretion of the Chief without appeal to the Commission and/or Arbitration. Any person appointed to either rank may, further, voluntarily return to the rank from which s/he was promoted at any time. Upon demotion or voluntary return to the previously-held rank pursuant hereto, the employee shall receive thereafter the full benefits provided in Chapter 143 Local Government Code and this Agreement as if s/he had served in either rank on a continuous basis throughout her/his tenure as either Assistant or Deputy Chief.
- F. A person appointed to the rank of Assistant or Deputy Chief may be terminated for cause, provided that such termination shall be subject to appeal in the same manner as applicable to all classified, uniformed employees in the Department.
- G. Except for the positions of Assistant or Deputy Chief, nothing in this Article shall be construed to require the City to create the rank or establish and fill the maximum number of positions authorized herein. Further, nothing in this Article shall be construed to limit any existing right of the City to create ranks and establish positions in accordance with State law and the City Charter.
- H. Assistant or Deputy Chiefs appointed by the Chief pursuant to this Article may receive administrative leave time for work performed in excess of their regularly-scheduled duties. Said leave time may be granted at the discretion of the Chief, subject to scheduling and manpower contingencies that may arise. Said discretionary leave time shall, in no event, exceed that amount of time that said Assistant or Deputy Chiefs have accumulated in excess of their regularly-scheduled work week.
- I. Salary and Benefits for Assistant Chiefs and Deputy Chiefs

- 1. Fire Fighters appointed to the Assistant Chief position by the Chief as provided for in Article 32, Section 8, of this Agreement, shall be compensated at an annual salary of not less than fifteen percent (15%) above the base salary of a District Chief plus thirty (30) years longevity.
- 2. The Fire Fighters appointed to the Deputy Chief position by the Chief shall be compensated at an annual salary of not less than twenty-four percent (24%) above the base salary of a District Chief plus thirty (30) years longevity.
- 3. The Fire Fighters holding appointed positions shall be entitled to all benefits as contained in the following specified Articles of this Agreement: Articles 1. Recognition; 2. Definitions; 4. Rules and Regulations, Special Directives, and Administrative Orders; 5. City Protection of Fire Fighters; 7. Payroll Deductions; 10. No Strikes, No Lockouts; 17. Vacations; 18. Holidays; 19. Bereavement Leave; 20. Uniform Items and Protective Equipment; 23. Sick Leave; 25. Benefit Plans; 27. Miscellaneous, Section 5; 28. Employee Fitness; 29. Drugs and Alcohol; 32. Promotions, Section 10; Appointment to Assistant Chief and Deputy Chief; 35. Agreement Binding; 36. Savings Clause; 37. Declaration of the Full Scope of the Agreement; and 38. Duration of Agreement.
- 3.4. The Fire Chief, at her/his discretion, may grant incentive pay as outlined in Article 22. Incentive Pay to qualified appointed personnel. In the event the Chief grants such discretionary incentive pay, all appointed personnel eligible shall receive such incentive pay. To ensure appointed personnel are equally compensated, appointed personnel with paramedic certifications and assigned to the EMS Division shall not receive Paramedic incentive pay but will receive EMT incentive pay.

4. Section 109. Preemption.

The promotional process shall be conducted pursuant to the terms of this Article. Chapter 143 is expressly preempted.

ARTICLE 33.

FIRE FIGHTER TRAINEES AND FIRE FIGHTER PROBATION

Section 1.

Persons enrolled in the initial Fire Academy shall hold the position of Fire Fighter Trainee. As such, s/he shall be considered a civilian employee and is not a member of the bargaining unit covered by this Agreement nor shall s/he be subject to any of the terms of this Agreement or of Chapter 143 Local Government Code.

Section 2.

Upon completion of the Academy, an employee shall be certified as a Fire Fighter and shall hold the rank of Fire Fighter (Probationary). The probationary period shall be extended by a

like period if an employee covered by the provisions of this Article is on leave for a period of thirty (30) consecutive calendar days or more. During this probationary period, excluding time spent as a Fire Fighter Trainee as described in Section 1 of this Article, the employee shall be subject to all provisions of this Agreement and of Chapter 143 Local Government Code with the exception that the Chief, in her/his sole discretion, shall have the authority to suspend or discharge said employee without appeal through the grievance procedure or to the Fire Fighter and Police Officer Civil Service Commission.

Section 3.

The provisions of this Article shall be exempt from the Maintenance of Standards Article 9 of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 34.

LIMITATIONS ON ACTS

- A. Except as provided in this Article, Chapter 143.052 of the Local Government Code applies.
- B. In the original written statement and charges and in any hearing conducted under this Article, the Chief may not impose discipline for an act that occurred more than 180 days prior to the date the Chief knew, or should have known, of the act, provided that no discipline may issue for an act that occurred more than two years prior to the date the Chief knew or should have known of the act.
- C. Notwithstanding the limitations set forth in (B) above, if a firefighter is indicted for a felony or officially charged with the commission of a Class A or B misdemeanor, the Chief may issue discipline in accordance with Texas Local Government Code Section 143.056 regardless of whether more than two years has passed since the act occurred.
- D. Solely to aid the Civil Service Commission or arbitrator in the assessment of appropriate discipline and not to prove a charge of a violation of Civil Service Rules or for any other purpose, the Chief and the City may offer into evidence any prior disciplinary actions which have not been set aside on appeals follows:
 - 1. Where the Chief's original written charges include alleged violations of Civil Service Rules and/or Department rules and Regulations, Special Directives, and/or Administrative Orders, constituting acts of violence (exertion of physical force so as to injure or abuse) the Chief and the City may introduce prior discipline on such other violations found to have been committed within five (5) years immediately preceding the date of the act(s) contained in the written charges. In such case, the Firefighter shall be similarly limited to offer evidence of prior good conduct to a period of five (5) years immediately preceding the date of the act(s) contained in the written charges.

- 2. Where the Chief's original written charges include alleged violations of Civil Service Rules and/or Department rules and Regulations, Special Directives, and/or Administrative Orders, concerning drug or alcohol abuse, the Chief and the City may introduce prior discipline on such other violations found to have been committed within ten (10) years immediately preceding the date of the act(s) contained in the written charges. In such case, the Firefighter shall be similarly limited to offer evidence of prior good conduct to a period of ten (10) years immediately preceding the date of the act(s) contained in the written charges.
- 3. Where the Chief's original written charges include alleged acts of incompetence, all prior discipline for acts of incompetence may be introduced by the Chief and the City so long as adequate records are maintained. In such case, the Firefighter may offer evidence of prior acts of good conduct.
- 4. Where the Chief's original written charges include alleged violations of any other Civil Service Rules and/or Department rules and Regulations, Special Directives, and/or Administrative Orders, the Chief and the City may introduce prior discipline of such other violations found to have been committed within two (2) years immediately preceding the date of the act(s) contained in the written charges. In such case, the Firefighter shall be similarly limited to offer evidence of prior good conduct to a period of two (2) years immediately preceding the date of the act(s) contained in the written charges.
- 5. Should a Firefighter offer evidence of good character or good conduct outside of the limitations set forth above, the City may offer any evidence of prior discipline, regardless of the nature of the discipline or the date of the act.

ARTICLE 35.

AGREEMENT BINDING ON SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS ON BOTH PARTIES, REGARDLESS OF CHANGES IN MANAGEMENT, CONSOLIDATION, MERGER, TRANSFER, ANNEXATION, AND LOCATION

This Agreement shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of the parties thereto, and no provisions, terms, or obligations herein contained shall be affected, modified, altered, or changed in any respect whatsoever by the consolidation, merger, annexation, transfer, or assignment of either party hereto or by a change geographically or otherwise in the location or place of business of either party hereto.

ARTICLE 36.

SAVINGS CLAUSE

Should any provision of this Agreement be found to be inoperative, void or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, all other provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of this Agreement, it being the intention of the parties that no portion of this Agreement or provision herein shall become inoperative or fail by reason of the invalidity of any other portion of provision.

ARTICLE 37.

DECLARATION OF THE FULL AND FINAL SCOPE OF AGREEMENT

Section 1.

The parties agree that each has had full and unrestricted right and opportunity to make, advance, and discuss all matters properly within the province of collective bargaining. This Agreement constitutes the full and complete Agreement of the parties and there are no others, oral or written, except as specified in this Agreement. Each party for the term of this Agreement specifically waives the right to demand changes herein, whether or not the subjects were known to the parties at the time of execution hereof as proper subjects for collective bargaining; however, it is understood and agreed that the contract may be amended by mutual consent of the parties to this Agreement.

Section 2.

Additionally, in the event that any provisions of this Agreement conflicts or is inconsistent with any provision of Chapter 143 Local Government Code, this Agreement shall prevail, notwithstanding any such provision of the Civil Service Statutes.

Section 3.

The parties understand and agree that where they have agreed to a re-opener upon the occurrence of specific events and/or with the passage of a specified period of time, such re-opener provisions are exempt from the provisions of Section 1 above.

ARTICLE 38.

DURATION OF AGREEMENT

Section 1.

Except as specifically provided here, this Agreement shall be effective the date of the Arbitration Award effective October 1, 2024. It shall remain in full force and effect until the 30th 1st day of December, 2024 day of September 2027 and shall continue in effect from year to year until replaced by a successor agreement or until terminated by mutual agreement. In no event shall this Agreement continue in effect after September 30, 2032 December 31,

2029. The 10% annual increase of employees' contributions to health benefits costs, set forth in Article 25, shall remain in effect until a new Agreement is executed.

Section 2.

FOR THE CITY OF SAN ANTONIO

Whenever wages, rates of pay, or any other matter requiring appropriation of money by any governing body are included as a matter for collective bargaining pursuant to this Act, it shall not be the obligation of the Union to serve written notice of request for such collective bargaining on the public employer at least 120 days before the conclusion of the current fiscal operating budget, because this Section serves as such notice.

Maria Villagómez Deputy City Manager Chief Negotiator	Erik J. Walsh City Manager
Date:	Date:
Christopher Monestier Interim Fire Chief	
Date:	
Andrew Segovia City Attorney	
Dota	

FOR THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIRE FIGHTERS and LOCAL 624:

Richard G. Poulson	Joe Jones
Chief Negotiator	President, SAFFA, Local 624
Date:	